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Our vision…

is to be at the heart of the 
delivery of the UK’s goals 
for secure, affordable and 
sustainable electricity

The Low Carbon Contracts Company (LCCC) is an independent, not-for-profit 
private company wholly owned by the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS). The company carries out two key roles that are central to 
the delivery of the government’s objective of “ensuring that the country has secure 
energy supplies that are reliable, affordable and clean”2:   

•  the Counterparty to Contracts for Difference (CFDs), responsible for 
    managing agreements with low carbon electricity generators under the CFD 
    scheme3;  

•  the Capacity Market Settlement Body, responsible for managing all financial 
    transactions and associated assurances under the Capacity Market scheme, 
    such as - credit cover; meter assurance; penalties; and payments to capacity 
    providers - which LCCC delivers on behalf of its sister company, the Electricity 
    Settlements Company Limited (ESC).

LCCC provides:

• assured delivery of CFD Management and 
   Capacity Market Settlement responsibilities

• strong independent governance

•  commercial skills and industry knowledge

•  a close working relationship with government, 
focussed on adding value

LCCC’s Guiding Principle 
is to maintain investor 
confidence in the CFD 
scheme and minimise 
costs to consumers.1

1 LCCC Framework Document, available at https://lowcarboncontracts.uk/corporate-governance
2 BEIS Single Departmental Plan, published December 2017: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/department-for- 
  business-energy-and-industrial-strategy-single-departmental-plan/department-for-business-energy-and-industrial-strategy-single- 
  departmental-plan
3 Reference is made to the Energy Act 2013 and the CFD related regulations. The regulations are available at: http://www.legislation. 
  gov.uk/all?title=Contracts%20for%20Difference%20regulations.  
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2 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd

Highlights for 2017/18

Delivering Excellence

CFD and Capacity Market scheme delivery

Acting as a Trusted Advisor

Developing as a Centre of Expertise

Advised BEIS

on operational changes 
to the CFD Standard 

Conditions for the next 
Allocation Round 

438 capacity 
agreements under 

settlement

with capacity providers 
successful in the 2016/17 

Capacity Market 
auctions 

Advised Ofgem

on settlement impacts of 
current and proposed 

changes to the Capacity 
Market rules 

Signed contracts for 16 
new CFD projects4

that were successful in the 
2017 Allocation Round

Increased CFD 
generator engagement 

through workshops and 
guidance on commissioning 

and other contractual 
requirements

Legend:

CFD – Contract for Difference 
CM – Capacity Market 

Delivered over 50 
discrete changes 
to our settlement 

operations 

required by revisions to the 
 Capacity Market rules and 

CFD regulations

Further developed 
our CFD levy setting 

capability 

through effective deployment 
of our Nostradamus Demand 

Forecasting Model

6.6 TWh of low carbon 
generation produced 

in year

from 8 operational 
CFD projects

4 where each phase of an offshore windfarm has a separate contract,  
  each phase is referred to as a separate CFD project
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Our Portfolio
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Hinkley

Birmingham

Nottingham

Manchester

Leeds

Newcastle 
upon Tyne

Edinburgh

Offshore Wind  24

Onshore Wind  15

Advanced Conversion 

Technology   8

Dedicated Biomass 

with CHP    3

Solar PV    2

Biomass Conversion  2

Energy from Waste 

with CHP    2

Nuclear    1

Operational facility 

Walney Phase 1
19/12/2017*
330MW

Burbo
11/04/2017*
258MW

Triangle Farm
18/07/2017*
10.9MW

↘

↘

Dudgeon Phase 3
01/10/2017*
102MW

Dudgeon Phase 2
02/08/2017*
210MW

Dudgeon Phase 1
27/04/2017*
90MW

LCCC is 
managing 57 CFDs 

with an estimated value 
of around £76bn5. The 

counterparties are contracted 
to build and operate over 
13GW of new low carbon 

capacity by the mid-
2020s.

* Dates for projects that became operational in 2017/18

5 including the value of the Hinkley Point C Nuclear CFD – see notes 26 and 28 to the Financial Statements
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LCCC is currently managing 57 Contracts for 
Difference (CFDs), including the Hinkley Point C 
Nuclear Development. Eight of these projects 
are now fully operational.

Over the last year, LCCC has also played a 
key role in the preparations for the second 
CFD Allocation Round. This resulted in 16 new 
contracts and a record-breaking low price of 
£57.50/MWh for the delivery of power from 
offshore wind in 2022/23. A further round is 
scheduled for 2019.

LCCC has continued to deliver Capacity Market 
functions on behalf of its sister company, 
the Electricity Settlements Company. Winter 
2017/18 was the start of the first full Capacity 
Market Delivery Year, in which we carried 
out the settlements for 54.7GW of capacity 
agreements issued in 2016/17 and verified 
meter arrangements for new entrants. We also 
managed credit cover for this year’s capacity 
auctions, which saw an unprecedented number 
of participants and the lowest clearing prices to 
date – £8.40/kW in the four-year ahead auction 
and £6/kW in the one-year ahead auction. 

Delivery excellence

Over the year, we have successfully 
implemented a considerable volume of 
Ofgem changes to the Capacity Market rules 
on settlement, as well as applying the new 
exemption from the CFD levy for Electricity 
Intensive Industry users.

The two schemes are now having a real impact on 
electricity generation in the UK, with the Capacity 
Market ensuring a Capacity Margin of 6.2% of 
underlying demand6 and the CFDs delivering 
6.6TWh of new low carbon generation during 
2017/18.

A strong team 

We continue to benefit from an experienced 
board, a capable management team and deep 
relationships across the sector. The strong 
performance and momentum that has been 
achieved by the company this year would not 
have been possible without the hard work of our 
people and I would like to thank them for their 
commitment and efforts.

At the heart of a changing market 

Britain’s carbon emissions from the electricity 
sector have halved since 20127. Renewables 
look set to compete with traditional power 
sources. New storage technology has the 
potential to add significantly to the use of 
renewable power. We have therefore looked 
beyond the delivery of our regulatory duties 
to review the anticipated challenges to the 
application of the schemes to new technologies 
and business models. We are working closely 
with government, Ofgem and other delivery 
agents to play our role in evolving the current 
CFD and CM arrangements. We stand ready to 
provide our expertise to assist government in 
exploring options for future market reforms. 

Looking ahead

With so much innovation in this sector, all 
organisations, both public and private, need 
to continually adapt. We recognise that our 
market is a rapidly evolving one with many 
opportunities, uncertainties and complexities. 
For us, continually changing systems and 
processes is “business as usual”. I am confident 
that the company has developed the skills and 
competence to succeed in this fast changing 
environment.

Dr Martin Read CBE 
Chair 

I am pleased to report another successful year for the Low 
Carbon Contracts Company and a further step forward in its 
operational strength and capability. 

Assured Delivery in a 
Changing Environment

Chair’s foreword

6 Out of a total capacity margin of 10.3% of underlying demand, as stated on page 16 of National Grid’s Winter Outlook 
  https://www.nationalgrid.com/sites/default/files/documents/Winter%20Outlook%202017.pdf 
7 https://eandt.theiet.org/content/articles/2017/11/carbon-emissions-associated-with-uk-s-electricity-generation-have- 
  halved-since-2012/ 
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Construction of unit 1’s nuclear island for Hinkley Point C, taken during an LCCC visit 
in March 2018
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Building on our Strengths
Chief Executive’s statement

On the CFD side, LCCC worked with solar 
and offshore wind counterparties as they 
commissioned around 1,000MW of renewable 
capacity. LCCC is now making CFD payments 
under these contracts which, together with 
the solar and biomass projects previously 
commissioned, delivered a total of 6.6TWh of 
low carbon electrical output during 2017/18.   

All of these achievements have been made 
while keeping our costs within budget. Our net 
operating expenditure of £13.2m compares to 
a budget of £14.8m. This underspend, together 
with Operational Costs Levy over-collection (see  
page 27 to 28), contributes to the £2.7m we will 
be returning to suppliers.

Key to achieving our milestones has been 
our ability to develop guidance on the CFD. 
In particular, we have developed Operational 
Conditions Precedent guidance for each 
technology which explains the evidence that 
projects need to provide before payments can 
be made. I am delighted that we have been able 
to commence payments to Burbo Bank, Walney 
phase 1 and all three phases of the Dudgeon 
offshore wind farm. 

We also played our part in ensuring that 
Allocation Round 2 went smoothly, preparing 
the industry for the Allocation Round process 
with a timeline, events and FAQs, and signing 16 
new CFDs for offshore wind, dedicated biomass 
and advanced conversion technology projects.  
I was excited to see the lower strike prices of 
the successful projects in Allocation Round 2 
when compared to the first Allocation Round in 
2015 and the 2014 Investment Contracts. This 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the CFD in 
helping to drive down costs.       

In the Capacity Market, we entered the first 
market-wide Delivery Year, settling over 400 
agreements issued in 2016/17 to 54.7GW of 
capacity. On behalf of ESC, we performed the 
necessary meter assurance activities and set up 
new regular payments, which were all carried 

out within the required timescales. It has been 
interesting to observe both the recent year-
ahead (T-1) and four-year-ahead (T-4) Capacity 
Market auctions settling at the lower end of price 
expectations. 

Keeping pace with a changing market

Business change and continuous improvement 
are part of our business as usual these days.  
This year, we implemented in excess of 50 
discrete changes to our settlement system to 
accommodate new developments to the CFD 
and Capacity Market schemes. Major changes 
included the ‘Energy Intensive Industries’ (EII) 
exemption from the CFD Supplier Obligation 
Levy, the freeze on CFD payments following 
any six-hour period of ‘negative pricing’, and 
Capacity Market secondary trading functionality 
(which is now also fully operational). 

These are just a few of the many changes that 
we have delivered over the past 12 months 
to ensure that the CFD and Capacity Market 
schemes continue to achieve the government’s 
intended outcomes. 

Over the 2017/18 period, we have proved our 
ability to cope with uncertainty around the timing 
of CFD Allocation Rounds alongside ongoing 
delivery of in-year settlement system changes 
between Capacity Market auctions.  

Increasing the value of our activities

This year also saw LCCC achieve its three-year 
anniversary – an opportune time for us to revisit 
our company strategy. We have refreshed our 
mission for the type of company and delivery 
body we want to be. This allows us to focus on 
further improving the quality of our services to 
our key stakeholders, such as the government, 
scheme participants and electricity suppliers.  
We have also for the first time committed to a 
three-year budget, which gives more certainty 
over our future operational costs.    

I’m excited by the opportunity our strategy 
provides for us to look at how we can add more 
value to our shareholder, delivery partners and 
wider stakeholders. This is a natural “coming 
of age” for a company that is seeking to grow 
its offering in terms of providing enhanced 

Over the course of the past year LCCC has delivered 
significant outcomes for the CFD and Capacity Market 
schemes, which contribute to ensuring secure, affordable 
and sustainable electricity for the UK.
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information and insights on the operation and 
development of the CFD and Capacity Market. 

For example, we have been working with BEIS 
on changes to the CFD Standard Conditions for 
Allocation Round 3 and also proposed changes 
to the Capacity Market rules to Ofgem in 
December 2017. This demonstrates how we are 
deploying our expertise to improve the schemes 
for the future. 

Looking ahead

Looking to the future, the growing portfolio 
of operational CFD generation will impact the 
wholesale market price - this is something our 
forecasting team are monitoring.     

It will be interesting to see how the market 
adapts to the considerable increase in new 
CFD generation expected to come on-stream in 
2018/19 and the predicted increase in behind-
the-meter services, such as Demand Side 
Response, incentivised by the Capacity Market. 

Looking forward, the government’s confirmation of 
the budget for future CFD Allocation Rounds has 
been widely welcomed by low carbon generators. 

However, there is a pressing need for clarity 
on the timing of the fourth and fifth Allocation 
Rounds to maintain the development pipeline.  

Whilst eligible projects get ready for the next 
Allocation Round, we retain our watching 
brief on wider developments in the electricity 
sector. As CFD auctions look set to soon 
deliver the least cost generation projects for GB 
consumers, so it seems inevitable that the future 
will look very different against the backdrop 
of technological innovation in the energy 
and transport sectors, as well as smarter, 
technology-enabled consumption.   

Fundamentally, what will remain important is 
the need to maintain investor confidence in 
the electricity sector so that we can continue 
to build on the progress in the last three years 
towards a secure, decarbonised supply that is 
affordable for all consumers. 

Neil McDermott 
Chief Executive
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©Equinor
Dudgeon Offshore Wind Farm  
Photographer: Jan Arne Wold / Woldcam - 22 August 2017.
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©Energy Works Hull

Aerial view of gasifier train, Energy Works, Hull.

Energy Works Hull is a project to turn household waste into electricity through Advanced 
Conversion Technology (ACT). The project, located in Hull city, signed its CFD in March 
2015. Once up and running, the facility expects to produce sufficient electricity to power 
43,000 homes, divert as much as 250,000 tonnes of waste away from landfill sites and 
provide estimated carbon saving of around 30,000 tonnes per annum8. 

8  http://energyworkshull.co.uk/
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Corporate report 

The CFD and Capacity Market are government schemes, designed to be “market-based” 
incentives that would work within the structure of the existing electricity market to deliver clean 
and reliable electricity, using competition to deliver affordability for consumers.  

Our primary responsibility as CFD counterparty is to manage the CFDs throughout their lifetime, 
ensuring that low carbon generators comply with their obligations under the CFDs. In order to 
ensure that we are always able to make payments to CFD generators, we collect the Supplier 
Obligation Levy, which we forecast using sophisticated forecasting and power price models. 
In addition, we coordinate with our key delivery partners – BEIS, Ofgem and National Grid – to 
provide information about CFDs and future Allocation Rounds to prospective applicants. We also 
work closely with BEIS in relation to changes to the CFD Standard Conditions.

We also carry out the functions of the Capacity Market settlement body on behalf of our sister 
company, ESC, via a cost-sharing arrangement. Our Capacity Market activity is primarily focussed 
on making payments to capacity providers, funded by collecting the Capacity Market supplier 
charge. In addition, we hold credit cover for Capacity Market auction participants and undertake 
the meter assurance required before the successful participants start receiving payments. We also 
support BEIS and Ofgem on amendments to Capacity Market regulations and rules.

Our role in delivering affordable, reliable and clean electricity

2017/18 scheme outcomes

Table: outcomes in 2017/18

Scheme Outcomes Total payments made 
under scheme during 
2017/18

Total estimated 
cost per household9 
(including operational 
cost levies)

CFD 6.6TWh of low carbon 
power produced

Approximately 2 million 
tonnes10 equivalent of 
avoided CO2

£544.3m £7.27

Capacity Market 54.7GW of reliable  
capacity available11

£220.7m £2.95

9  Estimated by adding total scheme payments to operational costs (£13.2m for LCCC and £5.5m for ESC), and dividing by 
   total eligible demand, assumed to be 301.5TWh, multiplied by an estimated average domestic consumption per household of 
   3,931kWh, as per BEIS published estimate, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ 
   data/file/675915/Sub-national_electricity_consumption_statistics_2005-16.xlsx. Note this does not include operational costs of 
   other delivery partners such as BEIS or National Grid.
10  Assumptions for avoided CO2e calculation provided in notes to Figure 1.
11 This is based on the Capacity Market Registers as published by National Grid on 4 May 2018: https://www.emrdeliverybody. 
   com/CM/cm-register.aspx. Also see notes to Figure 2.
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Generating capacity and output
During 2017/18, six new operational CFD projects increased the total installed capacity 
commissioned under the CFD scheme to over 1.6GW, producing a combined low carbon electrical 
output over the year of 6.6TWh. Meanwhile the Capacity Market ensured that 54.7GW of reliable 
capacity was also available to the grid to ensure the delivery of electricity when needed.   

Reduction in GHG emissions
During 2017/18, the contribution of operational CFD projects resulted in avoided greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions of approximately 2 million tonnes equivalent of avoided carbon dioxide emissions 
(MtCO2e), when compared with the long-run marginal GHG emissions of the electricity sector in 
2017 (see notes under Figure 1 on page 11).   

Capacity margin secured
The Capacity Market is designed to ensure security of electricity supply by providing payments to 
reliable sources of capacity, alongside the capacity providers’ other electricity revenues, to ensure 
the delivery of electricity by the transmission system when needed. According to the System 
Operator (National Grid), the Capacity Market has increased the amount of available supply in the 
market, with the capacity margin in winter 2017/18 (1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018) resulting 
from capacity secured through the Capacity Market being estimated at 6.2% of underlying 
demand, out of a total margin of 10.3% of underlying demand.12 

Reducing costs to consumers
Allocation Round 2 delivered close to a 50% reduction in the CFD strike prices for offshore wind 
projects compared to Allocation Round 1, when comparing two of the cheapest bids awarded 
from each round in 2012 prices (e.g. £118.89/MWh for East Anglia One, delivering from 2018/19, 
compared with £57.50/MWh for Moray Offshore Windfarm (East), delivering from 2022/23). The 
Allocation Round 2 projects bring down the weighted average strike price of the CFD portfolio13 
to around £103/MWh (in 2012 prices), demonstrating the cost reduction benefits realised from 
consecutive auctions.

Projects with CFDs could be powering around 
14 million homes by the end of 202514, following 
the addition of 16 CFDs from Allocation Round 2 
in October 2017, which has resulted in LCCC’s 
CFD portfolio reaching over 13GW of contracted 
capacity. Many of the projects are still in the 
construction phase (see pages 12-13) so the full 
benefits of the portfolio are yet to be realised. 
Looking even further ahead, we estimate that by 
2030, our current portfolio of CFD projects could 

Realising CFD Benefits in the Future

be generating over 60TWh (see figure 1). Under 
the Clean Growth Strategy ‘2032 pathway’15, 
BEIS estimates that UK power sector generation 
emissions will fall from the 2015 base level of 
104 MtCO2e p.a. to 16 MtCO2e p.a. by 2032. By 
2030/31 the greenhouse gas emissions avoided 
as result of low carbon generation from our 
current CFD portfolio is estimated to be about 19 
MtCO2e p.a., which would account for around 
21% of the expected CO2e emissions reduction 
under that scenario. 

12 https://www.nationalgrid.com/sites/default/files/documents/Winter%20Outlook%202017.pdf 
13 Weighting calculated based on projected generation volumes in 2025/26 from all CFDs to which LCCC is a counterparty,  
   including Hinkley Point C
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Notes to Figure 1:

1. The estimated forecast generation is consistent with the assumptions used for the long-term CFD portfolio 
projection – see notes 26 and 28 of the Financial Statements.  

2. The estimated forecast of avoided GHG (shown in million tonnes of CO2 equivalent) uses BEIS’ published 
generation based long-run marginal emissions factor for the electricity sector in 2017 of 0.301 kgCO2e/kWh (see 
HMT Green Book Supplementary guidance): https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-of-energy-
use-and-greenhouse-gas-emissions-for-appraisal 

3. These estimates are for illustrative purposes only and assume that CFD generation is carbon neutral. For 
thermal generators, CFD generation is the proportion of the CFD Facility’s generation resulting from the use of 
sustainable biofuels.
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Figure 1: CFD Portfolio Output and Avoided CO2 Equivalent by Generation 
Technology 

Actual   Forecast

14 https://www.lowcarboncontracts.uk/sites/default/files/publications/LCCC%20press%20release%20%2009102017.pdf 
15 See page 147 of the Clean Growth Strategy: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
   file/651916/BEIS_The_Clean_Growth_online_12.10.17.pdf



12 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd

Portfolio view:
Progress of CFD generators as of 31 March 2018

Pre-MDD Pre-Start Date

Contractual 
process:

CFD Project 
Activity

A generator can submit a Start Date Notice once it has 
satisfied all of its OCPs. Projects can start generation 
that will receive difference payments at any point after 
the start of the TCW. The end of TCW is the latest 
point at which generation can start and still receive 
a full 15-year term of CFD payments. The contract 
has a Longstop Date beyond which the CFD can be 
terminated if the Start Date has not been achieved or 
the Final Installed Capacity has not been declared.

+
C

H
P

+
C

H
P

ACT ACT ACT

ACTACT

CFD milestones

+
C

H
PACT ACT ACT

+
C

H
P

+
C

H
P

Development Construction

Contract Signed MDD

By the MDD, demonstrate 
commitment to the Project 
by satisfying the Milestone 
Requirement either via the 
‘10% Spend’ route or the 
‘Project Commitments’ route 
(MDD is 12 months from 
contract signature).
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Pre-FIC Post-FIC

+
C

H
P

Dedicated 
Biomass 
with CHP

Offshore 
Wind

Nuclear

ACT

Advanced 
Conversion 
Technologies

Biomass 
Conversion

Onshore 
Wind

Solar

+
C

H
P

Energy from 
Waste with 
CHP

If the facility uses thermal 
technology there are ongoing 
requirements for Fuel 
Measurement, Sampling, and 
Sustainability.

Key Contractual Definitions

MDD - Milestone Delivery Date 

OCP - Operational Conditions Precedent 

FIC  - Final Installed Capacity 

TCW - Target Commissioning Window

Operations

Start Date

Construction

FIC
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CFD developments

CFD Management 

Pages 12-13 depict the status of CFD projects as of 31 March 2018. During 2017/18 we managed a 
number of key CFD milestones: 

 •   16 new CFDs were signed and completed their Initial Conditions Precedent; 

 •   6 CFD projects satisfied their Operational Conditions Precedent and commenced   
      generation; and 

 •   2 CFD projects met their Final Installed Capacity requirement. 

Wind turbine foundation being buried at Dorenell (1) onshore wind farm, south-west of Dufftown in Scotland, leaving only a 
small percentage of the overall structure being visible ready for the turbine tower to be erected. This wind farm is currently the 
largest onshore wind farm in LCCC’s CFD portfolio and is scheduled to be operational in December 2018. Dorenell will have 
59 wind turbines offering 177MW when fully operational. www.edf-er.com 
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Generator engagement

This year, LCCC produced six further guidance documents to support CFD generators through CFD 
processes, for example on the process relating to the generators’ fulfilment of their Operational Conditions 
Precedent and on generator compliance with the conditions prohibiting the cumulation of payments under 
the CFD with other forms of state aid and/or EU funding. In addition, in response to our 2017 stakeholder 
survey, LCCC has provided additional stakeholder events, including regular events to engage with CFD 
generators and the wider industry on the development of selected guidance documents and focused 
sessions on the Operational Conditions Precedent and Final Installed Capacity requirements of the CFD. 

In May 2017, in further response to feedback from the 2017 stakeholder survey, our new-look website 
was launched with a number of improvements based on enhancing the customer journey and making 
information easier to find. The improvements also included a new “CFD Register Map” as part of the 
CFD Register, for the first time depicting CFD project locations alongside the information provided 
about CFD projects in the CFD Register. The launch of the new-look website, ahead of the completion 
of Allocation Round 2 in October 2017, seems to have encouraged visits to the site. Visits to the CFD 
Register increased by over 500% compared to the same period in 2016. 

CFD Supplier Obligation Levy 

This year we implemented regulatory changes to the CFD Supplier Obligation Levy to enable LCCC to 
reduce the Total Reserve Amount (which forms part of the Levy). This allows LCCC to act more quickly 
in order to reduce the burden on electricity suppliers if assumptions change due to events. The Total 
Reserve Amount is set quarterly in advance and, should there be an alteration to an assumption made 
by LCCC when setting this amount (e.g. a CFD generator’s expected start date is delayed), LCCC has, 
from April 2017, been able to reduce the amount set. We have already used this new power to reduce 
the Total Reserve Amount for the first quarter of 2018.

Settlement Operations 

Over the last twelve months LCCC has delivered in excess of 50 discrete changes to our settlement 
system, through four major (CFD and Capacity Market) software releases. In addition, we have 
supported two further National Grid software releases and delivered all required BSC changes 
impacting settlement. Major CFD settlement developments included: 

• efficiency and transparency improvements to the CFD Supplier Obligation Levy 
  (see above)  

• application of the seasonal zonal transmission charging multiplier resulting from 
   a Competition and Markets Authority Order (and implemented through BSC 
   Modification P350) 

• Energy Intensive Industries’ exemption support including reporting for the 
   Renewables Obligation and FIT schemes 

• negative pricing support for our CFD contracts 

• system readiness for signed CFD Allocation Round 2 contracts. 

Evolution of CFD terms

In preparation for Allocation Round 3, which is scheduled for Spring 2019, LCCC has been supporting 
BEIS in identifying changes required to the CFD Standard Conditions. We have also been providing 
impact assessments and implementation advice regarding policy changes being explored by BEIS, 
including in relation to remote island wind, the definition of advanced conversion technology and load 
factor monitoring. 
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In Focus: 
Dudgeon Offshore Wind Farm 

This year Dudgeon Offshore Wind Farm, which is located off the coast of Norfolk, satisfied its 
Operational Conditions Precedent, enabling its three phases to start receiving CFD payments.

One of the first offshore wind farms to be 
awarded a contract under the CFD scheme has 
completed its operational milestones for all three 
phases of its project and is successfully up and 
running. The first phase of Dudgeon Offshore 
Wind Farm, which is located about 20 miles off 
the coast of Cromer in north Norfolk, began 
generating power in early 2017. The second two 
phases commenced generating a few months 
later and now, with all three phases generating, 
Dudgeon is harnessing offshore wind, which 
the project says will provide electricity to over 
400,000 homes16.

LCCC has been working with Dudgeon on this 
project since we commenced operations in 
August 2014. Dudgeon is owned by Norwegian 
energy company, Equinor, China Resources 
(Holdings) Company Ltd and Masdar, an 
international investor in renewable energy and 
sustainable technology based in Abu Dhabi, 
United Arab Emirates. 

©Equinor 
 
The installation vessel Sea Challenger behind the very 
first turbine installed at the Dudgeon Field. 
Photo: Rix Leopard-Byron Price.

The 402MW offshore wind farm is now 
generating power through 67 turbines, each with 
a capacity of 6MW, with the final phase having 
become fully operational in November 2017. 

Bjorn Harald Berge, Equinor’s Business 
Support Coordinator, has been heading up the 
commercial and market side of the Dudgeon 
project. He praised LCCC for the help and advice 
offered by it throughout the construction period 
and in the project achieving its Operational 
Conditions Precedent certification. 

16 http://dudgeonoffshorewind.co.uk/news/news-22-11-17
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Bjorn Harald Berge, 
Equinor’s Business Support 

Coordinator: “LCCC’s expertise and 
knowledge has contributed to making 

this project a success, both commercially 
and technically. Being one of the first offshore 

wind farms in the UK to achieve the CFD 
accreditation has been challenging, but through 

great collaboration and teamwork with 
LCCC we achieved the final accreditation 

within the targeted timeframe. This will 
enable us to harness offshore wind to 

provide carbon free electricity to 
thousands of UK homes in 

the years to come.” 

©Equinor

Ryan Trow, 
Lead Commercial 

Manager at LCCC: “It has 
been a pleasure working with 

the Dudgeon team, learning about 
their project and applying the terms 

of the CFD to it. Dudgeon is a valuable 
addition to our growing 
operational portfolio”. 

Dudgeon Offshore Wind 
Farm - project facts and 

timeline

9 May 2014 
CFD awarded at strike 

price of 
£150/MWh

CFD Generation Start Dates

2017 
Turbine 

installation

Phase 1 
Started Generating 

17 April 2017

Phase 2 
Date started 

2 August 
2017

Phase 3 
Date started 
1 October 

2017

Wind Farm officially 
opened  

22 November 
2017

2015 
Onshore cable 
construction

May 2015 
Generator Investment 

Decision

2016 
Offshore foundation 

installation

April 2017 
Phase 1 

commissioned

Power to over 400,000 
UK homes
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Capacity Provider management

In accordance with the Capacity Market rules, 
we delivered, on behalf of ESC, 172 meter tests 
during 2017/18 and made payments of £220.7m 
in exchange for 54.7GW of reliable capacity to 
be made available to National Grid as System 
Operator. In addition, we managed credit cover 
for Capacity Market auctions, with the total 
credit cover managed this year being £234.3m. 

Growth in Optimisation technologies

This year the amount of T-4 capacity 
agreements awarded to Demand Side Response 
capacity providers increased to 1,206MW as a 
result of the September 2017 auction (making 
up 24.7% of the total number of T-4 agreements 
awarded to the end of March 2018). Similarly, 
the amount of DSR capacity with T-1 capacity 
agreements increased to 443MW as a result of 
the January 2018 auction (making up 18.7% of 
the total T-1 agreements awarded to the end of 
March 2018).

Secondary trading goes live

In July 2017 LCCC (on behalf of ESC) and 
National Grid worked together to enable 
secondary trading functionality for capacity 
providers enabling them to partially or completely 
transfer capacity agreements to another party 
for specified periods, for example during 
maintenance outages. The secondary trading 
functionality also includes a volume reallocation 
mechanism enabling capacity providers who 

Capacity Market Developments

have over delivered during a system stress event 
to transfer excess capacity to other Capacity 
Market participants to assist these participants in 
delivering on their capacity obligations.

Capacity Market settlement 

We have also implemented a regulatory change 
in the way we calculate the Capacity Market 
supplier charge so that a supplier’s share is 
calculated on a gross basis. This aligns with the 
approach to the calculation of the CFD Supplier 
Obligation Levy.     

Other major developments in our settlement 
operations delivered this year included: 

• delivering 100% of the 2017 Capacity Market 
   rule changes to settlement for all technology 
   types 

• completing the Capacity Market stress event 
   test 2017 and planned a stress event test for 
   2018, to include Volume Reallocation.  

• providing Secondary Trading capability and 
  support for all current and historic Capacity 
  Market auctions  

We have also proposed 12 changes to the 
Capacity Market rules relating to settlement, 
aimed at improving the way that scheme data 
is collected and used between the application 
stage and the Delivery Year, which in some 
cases is four years after the auction that 
awarded the capacity agreement. 

©Gateshead Council and Flexitricity. 

One of the Gateshead Energy Centre CHP 
engines, fulfilling a capacity agreement via 
Flexitricity. 
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Figure 2: Total cost of capacity agreements by auction and year

Total size of capacity 
agreements (MW)

Oct ‘18 Oct ‘19 Oct ‘20

Delivery from Oct ‘19

T-4 auction (14-15 year agreements)  
T-4 auction (1-year agreements)

Delivery from Oct ‘20

T-4 auction (12-15 year agreements) 
T-4 auction (1-year agreements)

Delivery from Oct ‘21

T-4 auction (12-15 year agreements) 
T-4 auction (1-5 year agreements)

Delivery from Oct ‘16
TA auction (1-year agreements)

Delivery from Oct ‘17

TA auction (1-year agreements) 
Early auction (1-year agreements)

Delivery from Oct ‘18

T-4 auction (15-year agreements)     
T-4 auction (3-year agreements) 
T-4 auction (1-year agreements) 
T-1 auction (1-year agreements)

Oct ‘16

Profile of Future Capacity Market commitments

The committed capacity payments for future years, based on capacity agreements in place, is 
shown in figure 2. It is likely that additional capacity will be procured through future annual year-
ahead (T-1) auctions, which will result in further payments for “top-up” capacity. 

Notes:

Based on information in the Capacity Market Registers, published by National Grid on 4 May 2018. Archived 
Capacity Market Registers available at: https://www.emrdeliverybody.com/CM/Registers.aspx
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©Ørsted. 

The Walney Extension offshore wind farm is located around 19km off 
the coast of Cumbria, in the Irish Sea. The contracts were awarded in 
May 2014, onshore construction started in August 2015 and offshore 
construction commenced in February 2017. Phase 2 of the project 
started receiving CFD payments on 13 April 201817. The 660MW 
shared-ownership project between Ørsted (50%) and two leading 
Danish pension funds, PFA (25%) and PKA (25%), is in two phases. 
According to Ørsted, the wind farm will be capable of generating 
enough clean electricity to power more than half a million UK homes 
each year.

http://walneyextension.co.uk/

17 Since this date was after the end of the reporting year, the project is therefore not shown as operational in the portfolio view of  
   progress on pages 12 to 13.

Walney Extension offshore wind farm
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In March 2018, LCCC reviewed its strategy, focussing on how we can continually 
strive for Delivery Excellence through adding value in the way we deliver the CFD and 
Capacity Market schemes. The Strategic Report on page 24 explains our refreshed 
mission and new strategic objectives, which recognise the specific skills required 
to position us in the future energy landscape. This strategy requires us to focus on 
how we can undertake more intelligent outsourcing and change management, how 
we can build on our recent successes in the implementation of electricity market 
reforms to become a source of expertise within the sector, and how we can use our 
knowledge and skills to play a more influential role in the development of electricity 
sector schemes in the future.    

Living our strategy and values

Our values

We have also taken this opportunity to relaunch our values and define the behaviours 
we will need to demonstrate to achieve our new strategic objectives. 

Independence

Our board comprises individuals with expertise 
in the energy market, IT systems, large 
infrastructure projects, finance, government 
and legal sectors. They provide strong 
corporate governance and oversight, enabling 
the company to exercise its operational 
independence, which is key to giving investors 
confidence in the CFD scheme.

Diversity

We currently have 54 employees 
comprising 14 different 
nationalities – from the following 
countries: UK; Australia; Estonia; 
France; Germany; Greece; 
Cyprus; India; Ireland; Italy; New 
Zealand; Nigeria; Pakistan; Spain

• Empower colleagues to take the lead

• Inspire confidence in our ability to deliver

• Promote an objective and impartial view

• Build trusted and trusting relationships

• Take accountability for your actions

• Demonstrate honesty and professionalism

• Pursue bold and better ways to change

• Challenge yourself and others to improve

• Be proactive and respond with energy

• Exceed expectations and add value every time

• Collaborate to achieve collective success

• Celebrate success

• Respect and value each other’s differences 

• Seek diverse perspectives to optimise the solution

• Listen actively and keep an open mind

Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18  
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Environment report

Through bringing forward the investment 
needed to deliver an increase in low carbon 
electricity generation, CFDs are facilitating 
a reduction in the UK’s greenhouse gas 
emissions.

The latest figures for UK greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions shows that carbon dioxide emissions 
from power stations accounted for just under 
a fifth of all carbon dioxide emissions in 201718. 
This means that the opportunity to decarbonise 

our energy supply, and in turn reduce the UK’s 
GHG emissions, remains significant. The Digest 
of United Kingdom Energy Statistics (DUKES) 
201719 states that the share of generation from 
low carbon electricity is around 46%. This year 
six new CFD projects have been commissioned, 
making a total of eight operational CFD projects. 
We estimate that the total GHG emissions that 
have been offset through CFD generation in 
2017/18 is approximately 2 million tonnes of CO2 
equivalent.20

18 See page 10 of National Statistics’ 29 March 2018 Publication, available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ 
   government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/695930/2017_Provisional_Emissions_statistics_2.pdf
19 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/electricity-chapter-5-digest-of-united-kingdom-energy-statistics-dukes
20 See notes to Figure 1 on page 11.

How LCCC’s own operations are impacting UK CO2 emissions

LCCC has continued to monitor its own operations and remains committed to minimising the 
environmental impact of these operations through the adoption of sustainable practices and continuous 
environmental performance. The focus for 2017/18 has been to continue monitoring and capturing 
operations data to establish a realistic baseline, via our carbon reporting tool. This includes the 
monitoring and recording of energy, water, waste and transport data resulting from LCCC operations. 
Reporting of LCCC’s greenhouse gas emissions continues to be in line with the mandatory carbon 
reporting format, which measures Scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions. However, while 
monitored, transport data has not been included in the report due to the quality of the data available.   

Table 2: Emissions from LCCC operations

Greenhouse gas emissions  
(Total tCO2e)

2015/16 
Apr – Mar  
(12 months)1

Estimated as at 
March 2018

2016/17 
Apr – Mar 
(12 months)2

Estimated as at 
April 2018

2017/18 
Apr – Mar 
(12 months)3

Estimated as at 
April 2018

Scope 1: direct emissions 33.57 19.23 35.78

Scope 2: indirect emissions 127.62 124.51 89.45

Total Scope 1 & 2 emissions 161.20 143.74 125.23

Scope 3: other indirect emissions 
Water & Waste Water

0.76 0.74 1.32

Waste 0.119 0.147 0.242

Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 emissions 161.96 144.48 126.55

Notes to table 2:
1March ‘16 data 
 forecasted

2Q3 & Q4 data 
forecasted and July 
water data estimated

3Feb & March ‘18 
 data forecasted

How the CFD scheme is impacting overall on UK CO2 emissions
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Historical data (2015/16 and 2016/17) has been revisited where data has become available and 
to also improve the forecasted estimates21, where new data or forecasts have become available. 
Table 2 therefore includes revisions to years previously reported. We anticipate further changes due 
to improvements in forecasting methodology and data capture, in particular on Scope 3 emissions.

As can been seen above, Scope 2 emissions (such as purchased electricity), have improved, but 
Scope 1 emissions have increased (e.g. natural gas consumed on site). This increase may be due 
to a number of factors, including weather, but it should also be noted that the data is provided at a 
building level and the increase may be as a result of increased operations elsewhere in the building, 
outside the influence of LCCC. LCCC’s occupation has increased by nine employees, which may 
have had an impact, but this would not have been significant.

Given the high level at which the data is captured and reported, LCCC remains committed to 
encouraging its landlord to implement sub-metering to all floors in the building in order to obtain 
more accurate consumption data.

Scope 3 emissions have also increased, which again could be due to a number of factors, 
including increased occupancy of the building and improved data collection.  

LCCC has policies to encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport, as well as embracing 
technologies such as videoconferencing. Capturing of travel data requires improvement and is a 
focus area for the year ahead.     

21 Forecast estimate factors seasonality in the data set: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ 
   data/file/542570/Fuelmixdisclosurewebpage2016__3_.pdf

©Bouygues Energies & Services. www.bouygues-es.co.uk 
 
Triangle Farm, the 12MW solar farm at Soham, built by Cambridgeshire County Council and 
Bouygues Energies & Services, started generating in 2017, thanks to CFD support from LCCC. 



24 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd

LCCC plays an integral role in the delivery of the 
CFD and the Capacity Market schemes. Our 
operations include signing and managing CFDs 
over their lifetime, managing CFD difference 
payments and CFD Supplier Obligation Levy 
forecasting and collection and settlement 
operations. We also, on behalf of ESC, deliver 
ESC’s metering assurance, credit cover, levy 
collection and settlement functions in relation to 
the Capacity Market.  

Building on our Strengths - 
our new strategic plan

During 2017/18 we reviewed our company 
strategy. The review confirmed that our vision 
remains appropriate. The review also provided 
us with the opportunity to refresh our mission 
to increase our outward focus, including by 
finding ways to provide added value to our 
key stakeholders. The strategy sets out how 
we intend to use the strong foundation of our 
‘Delivery Excellence’ to develop as a ‘Centre of 
Expertise’ and ‘Trusted Advisor’ on policy and 
scheme implementation. This will enable LCCC to 

position itself to assist government and industry 
in navigating the inevitable changes ahead for 
the electricity market as the market adapts to 
become more flexible, localised and digitalised.  

Strategy, mission and vision

Our vision is to be at the heart of the delivery 
of the UK’s goals for secure, affordable and 
sustainable electricity. 

Our mission is to implement and develop 
electricity market schemes, providing operational 
independence, expertise, insight and leadership.  

Our objectives 

The company strategy is articulated in 
three fundamental objectives, all of which 
are underpinned by the company’s fourth 
fundamental “people centric” objective that 
focusses on motivation of our staff to achieve 
our strategy and mission. The four strategic 
objectives will drive the focus of our activities 
over the next three years.

Strategic report

2. Achieve consistently high 
scheme delivery performance 
with continuous improvement

4. Leverage our 
expertise and 
independence 
to proactively 

influence change 
among our key 
stakeholders

3. Maximise added 
value to our 

stakeholders and 
consumers from 
our expertise and 

insights of scheme 
delivery

Delivery Excellence
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People 
centric

1. Develop, foster 
and maintain 

a highly skilled 
and motivated 

workforce
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Our people

Our highly skilled workforce is one of our key 
strengths, which will help us to deliver against 
our core strategic objectives over the long term.  
We have recognised this in our “people centric” 
strategic objective and, to help us deliver on 
this objective, we are currently undertaking 
an organisational development programme to 
ensure that our operating model empowers our 
people to deliver our strategy.     

We provide learning and training opportunities 
to our staff and actively encourage career 
and personal development and the building 
of skills and expertise. For example, this year 
352 total training days were taken with 78 
courses attended, amounting to 6.5 average 
training days per employee. In addition, two 
management and leadership development 
workshops were held in November 2017, with 17 
attendees, which included senior management, 
department heads and other senior staff.

We also offer mentoring and coaching 
opportunities for staff and recognise and 
celebrate the achievements of our staff, 
including via regular staff recognition awards.  
We are investigating new career development 
initiatives as a way of engaging and retaining 
valued employees. 

We have 14 different nationalities represented 
by our employees, and an even wider range of 
backgrounds, skills and experience, all of which 
provide a lively and diverse environment for our 
staff to work within.   

During the year the company increased its 
headcount through recruitment, with the 
number of staff reaching 59 at the year end. 
The company is a fair, honest and considerate 
employer. It is committed to treating its 
employees with dignity and respect, and 
values diversity. As well as living its values, 
the company is committed to equal treatment 
and opportunities for all present and potential 
employees. It does not discriminate on the 
grounds of colour, ethnic origin, gender, age, 
religion, political or other opinion, disability, 
marital status or sexual orientation. We fully 
consider applications for employment by all 
persons, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the 
applicant concerned. 

If employees should become disabled, every 
reasonable effort will be made to continue to 
provide suitable employment either in the same 
job or, by training, in an alternative job. Persons 
with disabilities are given equal consideration for 
training, career development and opportunities 
for promotion within the company.     

There are a number of communication and 
discussion channels in place to enable employee 
engagement. These channels include team 
meetings and regular company-wide briefings. 
The company encourages open and frank 
communication between employees and senior 
management, including providing feedback 
sessions, focus groups and opportunities for 
employees to express their views and generate 
ideas. The company also conducted an annual 
staff survey in 2017/18. While not the only source 
of feedback, the survey provided a method of 
reaching a broader range of employees, giving 
them an opportunity to feedback on a wide range 
of matters. The survey results have provided 
useful insights that will allow the company to both 
build on its areas of strength and be responsive 
to suggestions for improvement. 

We regularly benchmark our reward structures 
against the market to ensure that we are a fair 
employer, while at the same time operating 
against appropriate company and individual 
performance measures.  

Principal activities 

The principal activities of the company are 
described on pages 2 to 20, page 24 and pages 
26 to 28 of the Strategic Report.

The company’s performance 

The company monitors its progress against its 
strategic objectives through key performance 
indicators (“KPIs”). The KPIs set out overleaf 
have been defined by reference to the key 
milestones or targets in 2017/18 and therefore 
are not presented against the new strategic 
objectives referred to previously, for which a 
revised set of KPIs will be used to report in 
2018/19. 
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Key performance 
indicator

Summary Description of Primary Performance Requirements 

Financial and 
risk management 
performance  

Delivering within operational and capital budgets - the financial 
and budget performance of the company was well managed, with the 
company successfully delivering within its and ESC’s operational and 
capital budgets. As a result, the company will be returning £2.7m to 
suppliers and ESC will be returning £0.7m to suppliers. 

Effective controls - effective controls are in place to manage the financial 
performance of the company, including policies and procedures, monthly 
monitoring against budget and clear delegated authorities. Controls are 
also in place to identify, monitor and manage strategic risks, with mitigating 
actions being completed in a timely manner.

Management of CFDs Effective and efficient management of CFDs - the company 
successfully fulfilled its responsibilities in relation to CFD management 
and its Allocation Round 2 role. It also continued to liaise effectively with 
BEIS in relation to Allocation Round 3.

Delivery of CFD 
settlement system 

Effective operation of CFD settlement system - the CFD settlement 
system delivered CFD generator payments in accordance with the 
company’s regulatory obligations. ‘Releases’ of planned further 
functionality developments of the CFD settlement system have been 
delivered on time and budget.

CFD Supplier 
Obligation Levy 

Forecasting, setting, publication and notification of the Supplier 
Obligation Levy in accordance with regulatory requirements - the 
company has complied with its regulatory obligations in setting the 
quarterly Supplier Obligation Levy and has forecast the estimated future 
Supplier Obligation Levies and future electricity demand. It has achieved 
its target accuracies in forecasting.

Capacity Market 
settlement activity

Delivering and managing the Capacity Market settlement 
operations and metering activity - the company has, on behalf of 
ESC, successfully performed its role in relation to the collection and 
administration of credit cover and the delivery of its metering assurance 
work. The company has ensured that the Capacity Market settlement 
system delivered capacity payments in accordance with ESC’s 
regulatory obligations and that ‘releases’ of planned further functionality 
developments to the system were delivered on time and budget.

Corporate 
governance and 
strategy – including 
leadership 
of company, 
organisational vision 
and structure

Effective external stakeholder management: 

• the company has established effective external communications with 
   stakeholders (in particular, BEIS, National Grid, Ofgem, CFD generators 
   and Capacity Market stakeholders). Overall good results were received 
   in feedback from stakeholder events, webinars and the company’s 
   annual stakeholder survey. 

Staff engagement levels are monitored and staff turnover is managed: 

• The company achieved a staff engagement score of 62% in its annual 
   staff survey and is implementing measures to improve on this, 
   including by increasing its focus on learning, training and personal  
   and career development for staff and the promotion of cross functional  
   working within the organisation. 

Strategy and business planning: 

• the company’s strategy, business plan and budget (factoring in 
   workforce planning) have been prepared and agreed for the three 
   years commencing in 2018/19. 

• further opportunities have been developed to extend the company’s 
   reputation as a trusted advisor to BEIS and wider government and as a 
   centre of expertise in core business areas.
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Financial overview

The company is the counterparty to and is 
responsible for managing a large number of 
long term CFDs. It funds the payments it makes 
to CFD generators by the collection of levies 
from electricity suppliers. The company’s own 
operational costs are funded by a separate levy 
on suppliers. The company shares resources 
with ESC, such as office accommodation. These 
resources are paid for by the company, with 
the proportion of costs relating to the Capacity 
Market being recharged to ESC as set out in 
note 2.5 of the financial statements. 

Generator payments

The company pays CFD generators when the 
market reference price for electricity is lower 
than the contractual strike price applicable to 
the relevant generator22. Should the reference 
price be higher than the strike price, the CFD 
generator pays the difference to the company. 
The total amount of payments made by the 
company to CFD generators for electricity 
generated in the financial year was £544.3m 
(2016/17: £92.1m). 

The company obtains the funds it needs to 
make CFD generator payments from a levy it 
collects from suppliers. The company forecasts 
how much money it will need to make these 
payments and then levies suppliers for these 
funds under the CFD (Electricity Supplier 
Obligations) Regulations 2014 (as amended) 
(“Supplier Obligation Regulations”).  

The main levy relating to CFD generator 
payments is called the “Interim Levy Rate”and 
is set on a quarterly basis, three months in 
advance of the quarter. Suppliers are obliged to 
pay LCCC a daily amount equal to their eligible 
demand multiplied by the Interim Levy Rate. This 
amount is invoiced each working day, and must 
be paid by the suppliers within five working days 
of receipt of an invoice. The company, on the 
other hand, has 28 calendar days to make the 
payments due to generators (thereby providing a 
positive cashflow due to timing).  

In addition to the Interim Levy Rate, the company 
collects a quarterly reserve (the “Total Reserve 
Amount”). This reserve amount helps to provide 
reassurance that the company will have enough 
money to make CFD generator payments on time 
to generators. The Total Reserve Amount is the 
amount which the company calculates is required 
in order for there to be a 19 in 20 probability 
of it being able to make all the payments it is 

required to make to CFD generators during the 
relevant quarter, taking into account forecasting 
uncertainties such as electricity prices.  

At the end of each quarter the company 
calculates the difference between the total net 
payment to generators and the total amount 
collected from suppliers under the Interim Levy 
Rate and the Total Reserve Amount. It then 
returns any ‘excess’ collected to suppliers. As at 
31 March 2018, £47.9m was due to be returned 
to suppliers, which included £17.2m of Interim 
Levy Rate and £30.7m of Total Reserve Amount.  

The company collects credit cover from suppliers 
for 21 days of Interim Levy Rate payments to 
protect against supplier default. As at 31 March 
2018, the company held £11.1m of credit cover.   

If a supplier fails to make the levy payments due 
from it, and has insufficient credit cover in place 
to cover the full amount of the levy, the failure is 
“mutualised” between the remaining suppliers 
(i.e. the remaining suppliers have to make up 
the “shortfall” between them). There were no 
mutualisations in the financial year. 

Operational costs

The day to day operational costs of the company 
are funded by suppliers under the “operational 
costs levy” set out in the Supplier Obligation 
Regulations. The Supplier Obligation Regulations 
are amended by Parliament, after public 
consultation, to update the operational costs levy 
rate applicable to the relevant financial year. The 
operational costs levy for 2017/18 was set in the 
Supplier Obligation Regulations at at £0.0524/
MWh (which represented an expected budget 
for operational costs of £14.8m based on the 
estimated volume of eligible electricity demand in 
Great Britain in the financial year23).    

The operational costs levy for 2018/19 has 
been set at £0.0570/MWh (which represents 
an expected budget for operational costs of 
£16.519m). The Supplier Obligations Regulations 
have also, for the first time, set the levy for two 
further years: 

Year Budget Forecast 
of eligible 
electricity 
demand 
(terawatt 
hours 
(TWh))23

Levy rate 
(£/mega-
watt hour)

2018/19 £16.519m 289.66 0.0570

2019/20 £17.020m 287.69 0.0592

2020/21 £17.485m 284.59 0.0614

22 The “strike price” is the generator’s guaranteed level of revenue per £/MWh. It is designed to reflect the estimated cost of the 
   generator’s investment in the relevant low carbon technology. The “reference price” is essentially the average market price for 
   electricity.
23 The forecast of eligible electricity demand is based on a dedicated forecast model developed by LCCC. The model uses statistical 
   techniques taking into account trends in relevant electricity demand and matters such as the long term variability of the weather.
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The total operational cost levy collected 
depends on the actual volume of gross 
electricity demand. The amount collected for 
2017/18 was £15.9m (2016/17: £15.5m). This 
compares with a net operating cost of £13.2m 
(2016/17: £11.7m). As a result of this strong 
financial performance the company will return 
£2.7m to suppliers for 2017/18 (2016/17: £3.8m).     

The company applies robust financial 
management in order to ensure that its 
commitments are managed within both its 
budgeted levels of spend and the timing of the 
collection of its operational costs levy.     

The company shares resources with ESC, which 
are paid for by the company, with the proportion 
of the costs relating to the Capacity Market 
being recharged to the company as further set 
out in note 2.5 to the financial statements.   

There have been a number of contributory 
factors to the company’s positive financial 
performance, including lower professional fees 
due to Allocation Round being delayed beyond 
the date originally foreshadowed by BEIS, lower 
payroll and recruitment costs due to savings 
from staff structural variance to budget, lower 
than expected insurance costs and lower 
settlement costs due to the level resources 
deployed by the outsourced provider being 
lower than expected. In total savings account for 
£1.1m of the total being refunded to suppliers.

At the same time, there has also been a 
contribution to the company’s lower cost base from 
the company not needing to utilise its budgeted 
MWh electricity volume contingency of £0.5m. 
This contingency protects the company against 
a potential ‘shortfall’ should the volume of 
electricity demand (i.e. the electricity actually 
supplied in the year) be less than that estimated 
at the time when the operational costs levy was 
set. This is necessary as the operational cost 
budget is collected on a fixed £/MWh basis and, if 
MWh volumes of electricity supplied fall, the level of 
operational costs levy income collected will also fall.

Significant accounting matters and 
key judgements in the financial 
statements   

The key accounting issues, matters and 
judgements in relation to the company’s 
financial statements and disclosures relate to 
the valuation of the CFDs (including the Hinkley 
Point C contract).   

Valuation of CFDs (excluding Hinkley 
Point C)  

The estimated discounted value of payments 
which the company may be required to pay out 
over the life of the standard (minimum 15 year) 
CFDs is £39.2bn. The figure for 2016/17 was 
£31.4bn. The increase is mainly due to the award 
of 16 further CFDs in October 2017 as a result of 
the second CFD Allocation Round; the inflation 
of strike prices to current prices; and revisions to 
the wholesale price forecasts that are expected 
to be achieved by wind generators. The increase 
in valuation is partially offset by other changes 
to the forecast of wholesale electricity prices. 
The actual cash payments made to generators 
over the life of the contracts will vary, depending 
on a number of key matters, such as projected 
wholesale electricity prices, commissioning 
dates for generation and the average load factor 
for each generator. Further details relating to the 
treatment of the valuation of CFDs are set out in 
note 26 of the financial statements. 

Valuation of Hinkley Point C CFD  

The CFD for Hinkley Point C was signed on 
29 September 2016. Consistent with 2016/17, 
the liability for the CFD for Hinkley Point C is 
not recognised in the statement of financial 
position. Further details relating to this accounting 
treatment are set out in note 28 of the financial 
statements. The estimated discounted value of 
payments which the company may be required 
to pay out over the life of the contract is £36.6bn. 
In common with the other CFDs, payments will 
vary because of projected wholesale electricity 
prices, commissioning dates for generation 
and the average load factor of the generator. 
The valuation for Hinkley Point C is particularly 
sensitive in relation to forecast wholesale 
electricity prices as the contract runs for 35 
years from the commencement of operation and 
covers the costs of decommissioning at the end 
of the 60-year life of the power station. The period 
relating to the CFD (i.e.2060) is some ten years 
beyond the horizon of the BEIS electricity price 
forecasts (referred to in note 28). Management 
has used BEIS’s electricity price forecasts, which 
run until 2050, and assumed no change in the 
real value of the electricity price for the remainder 
of the contract. Additional sensitivities around 
the effect of the carbon price on future electricity 
prices have been included in note 28 of the 
financial statements.
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Viability statement 

The Board has assessed the company’s 
prospects, taking into account the company’s 
current position and the principal risks faced 
by it over a business plan period of three years. 
The period of three years has been chosen 
as this is the time period (i) over which the 
company has reasonable visibility of its strategy 
implementation and business planning, (ii) for 
which the operational costs levy has been set by 
the Supplier Obligation Regulations, and (iii) in 
respect of which the company has established 
its related three-year business plan and budget. 

The financial arrangements relating to the 
company minimise the risk of the company 
being unable to meet its liabilities. As set out in 
the preceding Financial Overview, the company 
is not obliged to make payments to generators 
and suppliers unless and until it has the funds 
to do so. The company also applies prudent 
financial management and robust financial 
forecasting and cashflow procedures to ensure 
that its operating costs are covered by its 
operational costs levy. 

As part of the strategic planning process and in 
assessing viability, the directors have considered 
the regulatory and legal environment within 
which the company operates and do not foresee 
any changes that will significantly affect the 
finances of the company within the period of the 
three-year plan. The directors have also carefully 
considered the way in which the company 
manages its principal risks, which are set out on 
pages 30 to 35. They do not believe these risks 
will bring into question the company’s viability. 

Based on their assessment, the directors 
confirm that they have a reasonable expectation 
that the company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due 
over the relevant period. 

Risk management – principal risks 
and uncertainties 

The board formally reviews the material risks 
facing the company and ensures that they are 
appropriately managed by the executive team, 
including ensuring that management is alert to 
and takes account of any new or emerging risks 
as the company develops and the electricity 
market and/or government policy changes and 
evolves. The board retains ultimate responsibility 
for the company’s risk management framework, 
with oversight of the overall effectiveness of the 
risk management programme being delegated 
to the audit, risk and assurance committee. 
The company’s internal audit function provides 
further assurance on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls relating to risk. 

The risk management framework has been 
designed to provide the executive and board 
with a clear line of sight over risk and to enable 
informed decision making. It focusses on 
the identification, management, monitoring 
and reporting of risk and reviews completion 
of the primary actions being undertaken to 
manage and mitigate risk. Risk management 
is embedded within the company’s operational 
activities. The company has also undertaken in 
2017/18 a refreshed review of its risks, including 
from a “blank sheet” basis. 

The company’s approach to risk management 
is designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that its business is 
safeguarded, the risks facing the business 
are being assessed and mitigated and all 
information that is required to be disclosed to 
the executive, the board and the audit, risk and 
assurance committee is disclosed.   

The company’s approach to risk management 
is further detailed in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 49.    

The board considers the matters outlined below 
are, as at the date of this report, the principal 
risks and uncertainties that could adversely 
impact the company’s reputation and operations 
and thus its ability to deliver against its strategic 
objectives.  

Post balance sheet events 

There are no post balance sheet events to be 
recognised or disclosed.
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Risk or uncertainty Risk brief description

*Actions have been developed 
by management to mitigate 
risks towards the target 
positions.

Main risk management or mitigating actions

Settlement services There is a risk that the 
settlement system and 
processes will not deliver the 
required settlement services 
accurately and on time and 
that the increasing level of 
settlements will place an 
unanticipated strain on the 
system and/or have inadvertent 
knock on effects. There is 
also a risk that delays occur 
in the delivery of ongoing 
changes to the settlement 
system functionality or that 
key processes are not fully 
designed, documented and fit 
for purpose or are delayed.

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – high* 
Recent risk movement – 
increased due to volume of 
change.

• All proposed changes are impact assessed

• Good project governance is in place  

•  Discussions take place with BEIS in relation to CFD policy 
changes, and with BEIS, Ofgem and National Grid in relation to 
Capacity Market policy changes, to agree an implementation 
plan to avoid delivery risk to the implementation of system 
change 

•  All changes relating to the agreed system change programme 
are impact assessed and implemented on agreed timelines

•  Working level and executive level meetings with National Grid 
and the settlement system delivery provider are in place to co-
ordinate deliverables involving delivery partners

•  A controls workshop is held with the settlement system delivery 
provider to obtain system and controls assurance

•  Robust testing processes are in place 

•  Controls assurance performance reporting is in place

•  A simulated system stress event is scheduled.

CFD contract 
management 

There is a risk that the operating 
model for CFDs assumes a 
more stable workflow than 
eventuates, resulting in budget 
or resourcing issues and/or 
changes to the profile timing of 
issues arising and relationships 
with generators. 

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – high* 
Recent risk movement – static.

•  The commercial team size has increased to ensure the function 
is adequately resourced and to improve the resilience of the 
team 

•  The commercial team’s organisational structure provides 
strength and depth and reduces key person dependencies

•  There is early generator engagement to identify issues and 
solutions 

•  A governance structure is in place and documented for key 
contract decision making 

•  Long term call down contracts are in place for specialised 
advice 

•  Stakeholder events are held and guidance documents on CFD 
related matters are published.
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Knowledge 
management 

There is a risk that the 
company does not maintain 
and implement the appropriate 
knowledge management and 
knowledge transfer systems 
and processes.  

Risk appetite – medium 
Target risk rating – low 
Current risk rating – high* 
Recent risk movement – 
increased due mainly to 
the greater volume of data, 
information and knowledge 
sources and the strategic 
focus on moving further toward 
Centre of Expertise and Trust 
Advisor which, to be achieved, 
requires improved knowledge 
management systems and 
processes. 

•  A review is being undertaken of data recording and storage as 
part of an organisational design programme being undertaken

•  The information architecture and other recommendations from 
the review will be implemented. 

Nuclear CFD This contract, while a CFD, 
involves additional and 
more complex and detailed 
requirements than other CFDs. 
There is a risk relating to the 
assumptions as to the level 
of resourcing required and 
the nature of any contract 
management issues over time 
and relationships.

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement – 
decreased due mainly to 
improved reporting and 
increased experience of the 
team in managing the contract.

•  The nuclear team is appropriately experienced and resourced

•  Appropriate advisory resource, including technical, is available

•  Contract management materials and guidance documents are 
in place 

•  A memorandum of understanding has been agreed with BEIS 
for ongoing governance and reporting in relation to the contract

•  Regular working level and senior level meetings with the 
generator take place to manage the relationship and assist in 
the resolution of any issues. 

•  There is now improved reporting from the generator.

Operational  
co-ordination 

The company structure involves 
cross functional teams with 
overlapping workloads and 
inter-dependency. This creates 
a risk if cross-functional 
interfaces are not fully 
streamlined and adequately 
managed.

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – high* 
Recent risk movement – static.

•  Operational owners have identified core processes and 
interfaces (including cross-functional interfaces)

•  Critical processes and interfaces are being documented

•  An IT change assessment board considers the impact across 
the IT portfolio of proposed changes

•  A capability review in relation to the company has taken place

•  An organisational design programme is under way to ensure 
that the company has an optimal operating model for the future

•  IT release management controls are in place.
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Risk or uncertainty Risk brief description

*Actions have been developed 
by management to mitigate 
risks towards the target 
positions.

Main risk management or mitigating actions

Stakeholder 
management

There is a risk that stakeholders 
feel insufficiently engaged 
or dissatisfied with their 
relationship with the company 
and/or the company fails to 
communicate effectively with its 
stakeholders.

Risk appetite – medium 
Target risk rating – low 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement – 
increased, mainly due to the 
strategic focus on moving 
further toward Centre of 
Expertise and Trust Advisor 
which, to be achieved, 
requires successful additional 
stakeholder management 
implementation.

•  A programme of stakeholder engagement is in place, including 
stakeholder events and workshops

•  A communications plan is in place together with active 
management of communications interfaces with delivery 
partners

•  Project specific meetings and communications are in place with 
delivery partners

•  Regular meetings are in place with the company’s shareholder 

•  There is ongoing monitoring of policy and industry issues and 
the impact of potential policy and market change is assessed.

Workforce 
management

There is a risk that the company 
is not adequately resourced to 
meet its business needs and/
or that knowledge is lost in staff 
turnover.   

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – high* 
Recent risk movement – 
increased due to reduction in 
staff engagement measured by 
annual staff survey.

 

•  A workforce plan that anticipates business requirements and 
skill needs is reviewed annually

•  Short term additional staffing business needs can be met by 
contractors    

•  Recruitment partners are in place to identify specialised 
resource at short notice 

•  Critical processes are being documented and knowledge 
transfer processes are being developed

•  The succession plan is reviewed annually

•  Staff retention strategies are in place, including in relation to 
staff career development  

•  An organisational design programme is under way to ensure 
that the company has an optimal operating model for the future

•  A capability review in relation to the company has taken place

•  Staff feedback loops and an annual employee survey is in place

•  Additional work is being done to improve staff engagement

•  Annual benchmarking of the company reward package takes 
place to ensure market competitiveness.
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Change management There is a risk that proposals 
for change initiated by other 
bodies (e.g. BEIS, Ofgem or 
National Grid) may not be 
identified at a sufficiently early 
stage to enable the company 
to address or influence the 
proposals appropriately; or 
its responses to proposals 
may not be adequately taken 
into account; or the company 
might not have the capacity (or 
budget or resources) to address 
or implement the required 
changes within the timescales 
set by the relevant bodies.

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – low 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement – static.

•  A company business design authority is in place to approve, 
monitor and assess change 

•  Resource is in place to monitor, review and respond to 
consultations 

•  Regular change board meetings take place with the relevant 
bodies and delivery partners  

•  An IT change assessment board is in place  

•  Governance is in place for project delivery and management 

•  The company is reviewing its change management processes 
as part of its organisational design programme with a view to 
implementing any recommended refinements.

Strategic delivery There is a risk of insufficient 
focus on the development and 
implementation of the company 
strategy and how it fits within 
the broader developments 
within the energy sector. 

Risk appetite – medium 
Target risk rating – low 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement – static.

 

•  An organisational design programme is under way to ensure 
that the company has an optimal operating model in order to 
deliver its strategy 

•  Board strategy sessions are in place 

•  Strategy sessions with senior management are in place 

•  Company wide strategy communication is in place 

•  The strategy is aligned with the business plan

•  Strategy delivery is a company key performance indicator

•  Engagement with BEIS and the government is in place, 
including regular scheduled meetings 

•  Engagement with the wider sector is being expanded.
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Risk or uncertainty Risk brief description

*Actions have been developed 
by management to mitigate 
risks towards the target 
positions.

Main risk management or mitigating actions

Litigation and dispute 
process 

There is a risk of disputes or 
claims in relation to operational 
matters leading to additional 
costs, impacting resources 
and staff time and potentially 
industry and stakeholder 
confidence.   

Risk appetite – medium 
Target risk rating – medium 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement – 
decreased.  

•  Strong governance and compliance processes are in place 

•  Competent and experienced staff are in place     

•  The in-house legal department is integrally involved in 
operations and processes  

•  External legal advice is available, with long term relationships in 
place as required 

•  Guidance documents on key CFD milestones and operational 
matters have been produced. 

Scheme fraud risk There is a risk of fraudulent 
activity from individuals or third 
parties. 

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating – low 
Current risk rating – medium* 
Recent risk movement - static.

•  Key finance controls and fraud controls are in place and 
monitored, including embedded segregation of duties in the 
finance processes and systems access controls

•  A control environment assurance report on the settlement 
system has been obtained from an external advisor

•  A fraud prevention officer is in place

•  Compliance and checking processes have been developed 
against a fraud control matrix

•  Fraud awareness and anti-money laundering training has been 
provided to the settlement services delivery provider

•  Work is underway with BEIS, Ofgem and National Grid to 
improve information sharing for the purposes of Capacity 
Market fraud prevention.

•  An internal audit function is in place and internal audit checks 
are being undertaken

•  Metering assurance and inspection regime is in place 

•  There is a “know your customer” check on CFD generators

•  IT security is in place

•  A risk framework has been developed with the settlement 
services delivery provider 

•  Fraud prevention meetings and liaison with key individuals 
within partner organisations and managers of other schemes 
are taking place.
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Cyber security/
information security

There is the risk of a cyber 
security or information security 
breach, including a breach 
suffered by the company’s 
critical suppliers. 

Risk appetite – low 
Target risk rating - low 
Current risk rating - medium* 
Recent risk movement - static.

•  Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation has been obtained 

•  Plan to obtain ISO27001 accreditation is being implemented, 
including the undertaking of a third-party ISO 27001 gap 
analysis exercise

•  Internal access controls for systems are in place 

•  Data protection measures are in place and GDPR 
implementation was completed in May 2018

•  Ongoing staff training and awareness is in place 

•  Information Asset Register to be developed as part of an 
Information Lifecycle Map and Logical Data model

•  Business Continuity Plan is in place 

•  Review being undertaken of mitigating actions and 
documenting of business recovery processes in relation to a 
potential cyber security breach.

Signed on behalf of the Board

Neil McDermott 
Chief Executive

6 June 2018
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Members of the board of LCCC on a site visit to Drax Power Station near Selby, North 
Yorkshire. Drax’s biomass conversion facility has been generating under the CFD scheme 
since December 2016. Three of its six 645MW power generation units have been upgraded 
from burning coal to using sustainable biomass, with a fourth coal unit under conversion during 
2018. By switching to biomass Drax has become the single largest generator of renewable 
power in Britain, accounting for 15% of renewable generation in 2017.

www.drax.com

36 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report on 
the affairs of the company, together with the 
financial statements and auditors’ report for 
the year ended 31 March 2018. The company’s 
registered number is 08818711.

Board

The board is responsible for the overall strategy 
and direction of the company. Details of the 
board’s composition are set out on pages 41 to 
42 and page 47.

Directors and corporate governance

Full details of the directors and corporate 
governance matters are set out on pages 40 to 
50.

Position of the company 

Information relating to the strategy and to the 
development, performance and the future 
prospects of the company are set out in the 
Strategic Report and on pages 3 to 21.

Employees 

The company recognises that the commitment 
of its highly skilled and experienced workforce 
is key to the efficient and effective delivery of the 
company’s functions and the achievement of its 
strategic objectives. Further information is set 
out in the Strategic Report on page 25.

The company’s employee numbers (including 
executive directors but excluding non-executive 
directors and secondees) as at 31 March 2018 
were 59.

Environment

Details are set out on pages 22 and 23 in the 
Environment Report. 

Payment to suppliers 

The company pays its suppliers in accordance 
with the provisions of its contracts with 
suppliers, subject to compliance by the suppliers 
with their obligations.

Charitable and political contributions 

During the year, the company made no 
charitable or political contributions.

Results and dividends 

The company has prepared its 2017/18 financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2018 are set out on pages 61 to 89.

The company is a not-for-profit company, with 
the payments it makes to CFD generators being 
matched or ‘counterbalanced’ by the Supplier 
Obligation Levy it collects from suppliers. The 
company’s other costs (being its operational 
costs) are funded by the operational cost levy 
referred to on pages 27 to 28. Any operational 
costs levy collected that exceeds the company’s 
requirement is refunded to suppliers. This refund 
is recognised through the financial statements 
and matched with the income collected. On 
this basis the financial results for the year reflect 
a neutral profit position, i.e. nil profit-nil loss. 
Consequently, the company does not pay a 
dividend.  

For a more detailed review of the results for the 
year and a more detailed explanation of the 
accounting profit, see the financial statements 
on page 61 to 89, and the Strategic Report on 
pages 27 to 28.

Directors’ third party  
indemnity provisions 

The directors have been granted an indemnity 
against liability in respect of proceedings brought 
by third parties, subject to the conditions set out 
in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third 
party indemnity remains in force as at the date of 
approving this Directors’ Report.
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Going concern 

The directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the company has adequate resources to 
continue to operate for the foreseeable future. 
The financial statements therefore continue to be 
prepared on a going concern basis. The basis of 
this view is outlined in more detail in note 2.2 to 
the financial statements. 

Directors’ responsibilities statement 

The directors are responsible for preparing 
the annual report and financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.  

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law the directors have elected to 
prepare the company financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the 
European Union, and in accordance with 
applicable law. Under company law the directors 
must not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss 
of the company for that period.  

In preparing these financial statements, the 
directors are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable IFRS have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

•  prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the company will continue  
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the company’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Each of the directors, whose names and 
functions are described herein, confirms that to 
the best of his or her knowledge: 

•  the financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union, give a true and fair 
view of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position and the profit or loss of the  
company; and

•  the Directors’ Report and Strategic Report 
include a review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position 
of the company, together with a description  
of the principal risks and uncertainties that  
it faces.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included on the company’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.  

The directors consider that the annual report 
and financial statements, taken as a whole, are 
fair, balanced and understandable and provide 
the information necessary for the shareholder to 
assess the company’s position, performance, 
business model and strategy.  

Auditors 

So far as each person who was a director 
at the date of approving this report is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information, being 
information needed by the auditor in connection 
with preparing its report, of which the auditor 
is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow 
directors and the company’s auditor, each 
director has taken all the steps that he/she is 
obliged to take as a director in order to make 
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditor is 
aware of that information.   

The company’s auditors have expressed a 
willingness to continue in office. A resolution to 
reappoint them will be proposed at the relevant 
time. 

By order of the board

 

Claire Williams 
Company Secretary

6 June 2018



40 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd

Corporate Governance report

The company was established by the 
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy as an independent private 
law company. It is also a governmental arm’s 
length body which is funded by and manages 
compulsory levies, with the Secretary of State 
being its sole shareholder. Compulsory levies 
are normally classified as taxation, which 
effectively means that the company is managing 
public monies.    

The company accordingly, both as an 
independent private company and as an entity 
having responsibilities for the administration of 
public monies, adopts the highest standards 
of governance and works to the highest 
standards of probity. The company recognises 
the importance of operating with regularity 
and propriety, the need for effectiveness 
and prudence in the administration of public 
resources and the need to secure value for 
public money.

This Corporate Governance Report outlines 
the company’s governance structure and 
demonstrates how its arrangements align with 
the guidelines and principles set out in the UK 
Corporate Governance Code. An explanation is 
given below where any aspect of the Code has 
not been fully applied.    

The company’s activities in the year are 
described in pages 2 to 20 and in the Strategic 
Report at pages 24 and 25 to 28.

Framework Document

The company’s main governing documents are 
its Articles of Association and its Framework 
Document. The Framework Document 
establishes the fundamental relationship 
between the shareholder and the company. It is 
published on the company’s website to provide 
transparency of the relationship.

The Framework Document reflects the basic 
tenet that functional independence is compatible 
with financial oversight of an arm’s length body 
by its parent department. The Framework 
Document makes it clear that the company has 
day-to-day operational independence, subject to 
certain limited exceptions set out in legislation, 
the company’s Articles of Association and in the 
Framework Document itself. The limitations on 
the company’s independence are those which 
are either:             

•  common to government owned entities 
and necessary to satisfy government and 
Parliamentary budgeting and accountability 
requirements; or 

•  provide the shareholder with specific controls 
in respect of policy implementation matters 
relating to CFDs. Essentially, these specific 
controls are matters for which shareholder 
consent is required, mainly in relation to 
material change to the CFDs.  

I am pleased to present our corporate governance report for the year, which describes our board’s 
general approach to corporate governance and how the UK Corporate Governance Code is applied 
within the company. The board believes that good corporate governance underpins the delivery of the 
company’s strategy and objectives (described in the Strategic Report) and is committed to ensuring 
that high standards of corporate governance are maintained throughout the company.  

This year we arranged for an externally facilitated review of our performance as a board. Further 
details of this evaluation are provided below. We also continued to engage with our shareholder and 
maintained a programme of site visits to CFD generators.   

I would like to thank all board members for their dedication and commitment over the year, including 
Marion King, whose three-year term of office expired in November 2017, and Simon Elliston who left 
the board in April 2018. 

 

Dr Martin Read CBE, Chair 
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The Framework Document recognises that the 
company is a separate corporate entity and that 
its governance and decision-making processes 
flow through its board, with its executives 
reporting to that board.

The Framework Document establishes that in 
carrying out its functions, activities and role 
the company shall seek to maintain investor 
confidence in the CFD scheme and minimise 
costs to consumers. This is known as the 
“Guiding Principle”. The company recognises  
the importance of this Guiding Principle.

UK Corporate Governance Code

The company is required by the Framework 
Document to comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code as it applies to small quoted 
companies (other than Section E relating to 
relations with shareholders) or specify and 
explain any non-compliance in its annual report.  

The company additionally believes that the 
adoption of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code is important as a means of recognising 
and embedding best practice in corporate 
governance. The board considers that the 
company has complied in full with the Code, 
otherwise than as explained in this Corporate 
Governance Report. Any non-compliance is 
due to the requirements of the company’s 
shareholder as reflected in company’s Articles  
of Association and the Framework Document. 

Role of the board 

The board is committed to ensuring high 
standards of corporate governance. It 
accepts that good governance is based on 
the underlying principles of accountability, 
transparency, probity and focus on the 
sustainable success of the company over the 
longer term.

The board is collectively responsible for the long-
term success of the company and is ultimately 
responsible for its strategy, management, 
direction and performance. The board sets the 
company’s strategic aims, ensures that the 
necessary financial and human resources are 
in place for the company to meet its objectives, 
reviews progress towards the achievement 
of objectives and reviews the performance of 
management.    

The board establishes the values, culture, 
ethics and standards of the company and 
sets the framework for prudent and effective 
controls which enables risk to be assessed and 
managed. The board reviews the results of the 
annual employee survey and receives reports 
on stakeholder engagement from the Chair and 
Chief Executive.  

The board has delegated authority to its 
committees to carry out the tasks defined in 
the committees’ terms of reference. There are 
three committees, being (i) the audit, risk and 
assurance committee; (ii) the remuneration 
committee; and (iii) the nomination committee. 
The written terms of reference of each 
committee are available on the company’s 
website. The board has delegated the day-to-
day management of the company to the Chief 
Executive.  

Composition of the board

The Framework Document and the Articles 
of Association provide that the shareholder’s 
approval is required for all board appointments. 
The Framework Document and the Articles 
of Association also state that the shareholder 
has the right to appoint the Chair, the Senior 
Independent Director and up to two shareholder 
nominated directors.

Martin Read was appointed as Chair on 2 May 
2014 (having previously been appointed as Chair 
designate around March 2014), and reappointed 
for a further three-year term in March 2017. Jim 
Keohane was appointed as Senior Independent 
Director on 2 May 2014 (having previously been 
appointed as Senior Independent Director 
designate around March 2014), and reappointed 
for a further two-year term in March 2017.               

The board comprises seven other directors, 
being currently one shareholder nominated 
director, four independent non-executive 
directors, the Chief Executive and the Chief 
Finance Officer.

The shareholder nominated director is currently 
David Long (appointed on 27 October 2015), a 
public servant employed by a government wholly 
owned company. Until his resignation on 12 April 
2018, a second shareholder nominated director, 
Simon Elliston (a civil servant employed by 
central government) was a member of the board. 
Shareholder nominated directors are appointed 
for the period required by the shareholder.

The four independent non-executive directors 
as at year end (and currently) are Anne Baldock, 
Tony Bickerstaff, Simon Orebi Gann and Tony 
White. Each director was appointed in November 
2014 after the consent of the shareholder was 
obtained in accordance with the Framework 
Document and the Articles of Association.  
The term of appointment of each director was 
extended in November 2017 for a further period 
of three years, other than that of Tony White, 
whose term of appointment was extended for 
a period of eight months in view of his planned 
scheduled retirement from the board.
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Neil McDermott, the Chief Executive, was 
appointed as a director on 22 July 2014 and 
Catherine Gan, the Chief Finance Officer, was 
appointed as director effective on 24 April 2017.   

An external recruitment consultancy was used 
in the original appointments of the Chairman, 
the Senior Independent Director and the 
independent non-executive directors. An 
external recruitment consultancy was also used 
in the search for the Chief Executive and Chief 
Finance Officer. The shareholder nominated 
directors are civil servants selected by the 
shareholder. No recruitment consultancy used 
by the company has any other connection with 
the company.

The search process for the appointment of 
the Chairman, Senior Independent Director, 
independent non-executive directors, Chief 
Executive and Chief Finance Officer was formal, 
rigorous and transparent and the searches were 
conducted, and appointments made, on merit, 
against objective criteria and with due regard for 
the benefits of diversity on the board.  

The details of all board members, any changes 
in the year and attendance at board meetings 
are listed on pages 47 to 48. All directors, with 
the exception of the shareholder nominated 
director, have written terms of appointment. 
These terms of appointment are available for 
inspection at the company’s registered office 
during normal business hours. 

The Chair was independent on appointment. 
The board considers all non-executive directors, 
other than the shareholder nominated directors, 
to be independent of the company. 

The board and its committees have an 
appropriate, effective and broad balance of 
skills, experience, independence and knowledge 
which enables them to discharge their 
respective duties and responsibilities effectively.  

New directors receive an induction programme 
and additional training that is tailored to their 
individual needs.

The company maintains a register of directors’ 
interests. 

Board changes 

Catherine Gan commenced as both CFO and a 
board director on 24 April 2017, Marion King’s 
three-year term of office as an independent 
non-executive director expired on 11 November 
2017 and Simon Elliston retired as a (shareholder 
nominated) non-executive director on 12 April 2018.  

Board governance

The board meets sufficiently regularly to 
discharge its duties effectively, generally meeting 
seven to eight times per year (with additional 
ad hoc meetings as required). The board met 
eight times in 2017/18 and also held a separate 
strategy meeting.  

The Chair has held a meeting with the non-
executive directors without the executives being 
present. The non-executive directors, led by the 
Senior Independent Director, have met without 
the Chair and executive directors being present. 

Details of the directors’ interests are recorded 
in a register maintained by the company and 
reviewed at least annually by the board. The 
company has procedures in place to ensure 
any actual or potential conflicts of interest are 
appropriately declared and managed. Directors 
are required to declare any actual or potential 
conflict of interest to the board and to the 
Company Secretary. 

The board is supplied in a timely manner with 
the appropriate information of the required 
quality to enable it to discharge its duties 
effectively and properly. The Chair, executive 
directors and Company Secretary have review 
processes in place to ensure the quality of 
the information provided to the board and its 
committees. The board and committees have 
concluded, after assessing the question as part 
of their annual evaluation processes, that they 
were being provided in a timely manner with 
appropriate information of the required quality. 
Board members have access to the Company 
Secretary and also to independent legal advice if 
appropriately required. 

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically 
reserved to the board. In high level terms, the 
day to day management of the company is 
delegated to the Chief Executive and senior 
management with the matters reserved to the 
board including:

• setting and approving the company’s strategy

•  responsibility for the leadership of  
the company

• approving the financial statements

•  approving (subject to shareholder consent)  
the annual business plan and budget

•  monitoring and overseeing risk management, 
financial reporting and the system of  
internal control
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• oversight of the company’s operations

•  approving of financial commitments over 
specified monetary thresholds

•  deciding on specified important CFD matters

•  setting the terms of reference for the  
board committees.

The main roles and responsibilities of the Chair, 
Chief Executive, Senior Independent Director 
and non-executive directors are summarised 
in high level terms below. There is a formal 
document, approved by the board, setting out 
the division of responsibilities between the Chair 
and the Chief Executive. 

The Chair: 

•  provides clear and effective leadership to the 
board 

•  is responsible for maintaining high standards 
of operation and governance

•  is responsible for promoting a culture of 
openness and constructive debate by 
facilitating the effective contribution of the non-
executive directors

•  facilitates the effective contribution and 
encourages the active engagement of all 
members of the board

•  ensures the annual evaluation of the 
performance of the board, its members and its 
committees

•  ensures constructive relations between the 
executive and non-executive directors

•  speaks on behalf of the board and represents 
the board to the shareholder

•  manages the business of the board, including 
the board’s agenda and ensuring that 
adequate time is available for the discussion of 
all agenda items, in particular, strategic issues

•  is responsible for ensuring that the directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear information. 

The Chief Executive: 

•  fulfils his responsibilities as Accounting 
Officer24 

•  leads the executive team in the day-to-day 
running of the company

•  makes and executes operational decisions

•  implements the strategy agreed by the board

•  ensures delivery within the annual budget

•  ensures appropriate internal controls and risk 
management processes are in place 

•  maintains the appropriate dialogue with the 
Chair and the board

•  facilitates effective communication to the 
shareholder and external stakeholders, 
including service providers, industry parties, 
regulatory bodies and governmental 
authorities

•  ensures the values of the company are 
embedded within its operations and staff 
culture.

The Senior Independent Director:

•  works alongside the Chair and provides a 
sounding board for the Chair

•  is available as an intermediary to other 
directors when necessary

•  leads the meeting(s) with the other non-
executive directors without the Chair being 
present, including to appraise the performance 
of the Chair. 

Non-executive directors:

•  Non-executive directors (including via their 
activities in relevant committees) ensure 
that the board fulfils its responsibilities, 
including in relation to strategy, monitoring the 
performance of management and satisfying 
themselves as to the integrity of financial 
information and that there is in place robust 
internal controls and a sound system of risk 
management.    

Board evaluation

The board undertakes an annual formal and 
rigorous evaluation of its own performance and 
that of its committees and individual directors. 
The committees also each separately undertake 
an annual evaluation process. In 2017/18 the 
evaluation was undertaken with the assistance 
of Korn Ferry, an experienced external facilitator.   

This evaluation involved a focussed 
questionnaire and one-to-one discussions.  
It looked at a variety of areas, including the 

24 The responsibilities of an Accounting Officer are described in HM Treasury guidance “Managing Public Money”. They include 
   accountability for the activities of the company, the stewardship of public funds and the extent to which key performance targets 
   and objectives are met. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212123/Managing_   
   Public_   Money_AA_v2_-_chapters_annex_web.pdf
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composition of the board and committees, the 
support provided to them, the unity of board 
member support for the focus of the company’s 
strategic model and the fact that the company 
had moved, having completed its third year of 
operation, from start up and transitional stage to 
being an experienced operator.

The Chair has, with the input and assistance 
from the other directors and the executive 
management, undertaken an objective and 
thorough evaluation of the performance of the 
Senior Independent Director. The non-executive 
directors, led by the Senior Independent Director, 
have undertaken an objective and thorough 
performance evaluation of the Chair, taking into 
account the views of executive directors.

These evaluations (including the Korn Ferry 
evaluation) have concluded that the board and the 
committees are working cohesively and effectively, 
are performing their role in a proper, good and 
appropriate manner and that there is strong 
corporate governance in place. The Korn Ferry 
evaluation made a small number of suggestions 
for future focus, including board succession 
planning (noting the cycle for board retirements) 
and some ideas for more in-depth exploration at 
the board’s regular strategy session.

The Chair also regularly reviews and agrees with 
each director their training and development 
needs, including as part of the evaluation 
process. The Company Secretary also seeks 
to identify useful refresher training or industry 
familiarisation sessions for directors, including 
briefings on internal expertise areas (such as 
forecasting and settlement systems), industry 
developments and compliance matters.  

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee   

At year end, the membership of this committee 
comprised five non-executive directors, 
namely Tony Bickerstaff (chair), Jim Keohane, 
Simon Elliston, Simon Orebi Gann and Tony 
White. Marion King, who was a member of the 
committee, retired from both the board and 
the committee on 11 November 2017. Tony 
White was appointed to the committee on 13 
December 2017 and David Long on 25 April 
2018. Simon Elliston resigned from both the 
board and the committee on 12 April 2018.  

The chair of the committee is a qualified 
accountant with recent and relevant financial 
experience. The committee is composed of four 
independent non-executive directors and one 
shareholder nominated non-executive director. 
The Framework Document, as permitted by the 

Articles of Association, requires the committee to 
include a director nominated by the shareholder.   

The committee met four times in the financial 
year 2017/18, with meetings in May 2017, July 
2017, September 2017 and January 2018.   

The Chief Executive (as Accounting Officer), Chief 
Finance Officer, Head of Internal Audit/Assurance 
& Risk25, Company Secretary and external 
auditors attend each meeting. The Accounting 
Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Head of Internal 
Audit/Assurance & Risk and the external auditors 
have access to the chair of the committee outside 
formal committee meetings. The Head of Internal 
Audit/Assurance & Risk and the external auditors 
each separately meet with the committee after 
every scheduled committee meeting.      

The main responsibilities of the  
committee include: 

•  monitoring the assurance needs of the 
company in relation to risk, governance and 
the control framework 

•  reviewing the company’s internal controls 
(including financial controls) and risk 
management systems 

•  monitoring the integrity of the company’s 
financial statements and reviewing and 
reporting to the board on significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements

•  monitoring the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal audit function

•  making recommendations to the board in 
relation to the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the external auditor and 
approving the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor

•  reviewing external auditor independence and 
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit 
process, taking into consideration relevant UK 
professional and regulatory requirements

•  reporting to the board, identifying any matters 
in respect of which it considers that action 
or improvement is needed and making 
recommendations as to the steps to be taken

•  reporting to the board on how it has 
discharged its responsibilities

•  undertaking an evaluation of its own 
performance.

25 The previous Head of Internal Audit resigned from the company in November 2017 to take up a new appointment elsewhere. He 
   was replaced in December 2017 by the new head of this function (whose position title was changed to Head of Assurance & Risk).
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The committee has reviewed arrangements by 
which employees are able, in confidence, to 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in 
matters of financial reporting or other matters.      

The committee applies an external auditor 
independence policy to safeguard auditor 
objectivity and independence where the 
company’s auditors have provided non-audit 
services. The external auditor has not provided 
any non-audit services in the financial year.

In the financial year, the committee discussed 
the following matters: 

•  Review of Financial Performance 

•  Risk Register Review

•  Internal Audit Activity Update

•  Status of Significant Accounting Estimates, 
Judgements and Special Issues

•  Annual Report Update: Going Concern & 
Viability Statement

•  External Auditors Report for 2016/17

•  Letters of Representation for 2016/17

•  Recommendation of Annual Report and 
Accounts for 2016/17

•  Committee Annual Report to the Board 

•  Review of Whistleblowing Policy

•  Review of Internal Audit Function

•  Follow Up on Internal Audit Survey

•  Re-Appointment of External Auditors for 
2017/18

•  Approval of External Audit Fee for 2017/18

•  Review of Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference

•  Annual Evaluation of Committee

•  Risk Management and Internal Control 
Framework

•  Annual Report Process for 2017/18

•  External Audit Plan and Update on Period 9 
Work 2017/18

•  Business Continuity Planning Update

•  Fraud Risk Update.

The minutes of the meeting are circulated  
to the board.

The significant issue considered by the 
committee in relation to the financial statements 
relates to the valuation of the CFDs (including 
the accounting treatment for the Hinkley Point 
C CFD). These matters are further referred to on 
page 28 of the Strategic Report and, respectively, 
in notes 26 and 28 of the financial statements.

The company’s main risks and related mitigating 
actions are set out on pages 30 to 35 of the 
Strategic Report. There have been no lapses in 
data security (other than minor or non-significant 
lapses). There have also been no incidents of 
whistleblowing. 

The re-appointment of the external auditor was 
approved by the board in October 2017 upon 
the recommendation of the committee. The 
committee in recommending the re-appointment, 
and the board in approving the re-appointment, 
took into account the fact that the Framework 
Document stated the strong presumption 
that the company would appoint the National 
Audit Office (NAO) as its auditor and also that 
shareholder consent was required for the 
appointment of any external auditor. It also noted 
the significant benefits of appointing the NAO 
based on value for money, the potential synergies 
with BEIS’s audit requirements and the NAO’s 
understanding of both the complex environment 
within which the company would operate and the 
wider government and public sector context. 

The committee assessed the effectiveness 
of the external audit process and provided its 
comments on the effectiveness to the external 
auditor.

Nomination Committee

At year end, the committee comprised Martin 
Read (chair), Jim Keohane, Anne Baldock, 
Simon Orebi Gann and Tony White. All were 
members of the committee throughout the year, 
other than Jim Keohane who was appointed 
to the committee on 24 October 2017. Marion 
King was a member of the committee until her 
retirement from the board and the committee 
on 11 November 2017. A majority of members of 
the nomination committee are independent non-
executive directors.

The committee met twice during the year, in 
July and September 2017. No member of the 
committee attended an agenda item in which 
they had a personal interest or were discussed 
or appraised.
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The committee’s responsibilities include:

•  regularly reviewing the structure, size and 
composition of the board including skills, 
knowledge, diversity and experience

•  reviewing plans for the orderly succession 
for appointments to the board and to senior 
management, so as to maintain an appropriate 
balance of skills and experience within the 
company and on the board and to ensure 
progressive refreshing of the board

•  undertaking an evaluation of its own 
performance.

These matters were discussed by the committee 
during the course of the year, with particular 
reference to the:

•  composition of the board and balance of skills 
required

•  reduction of the number of non-executive 
directors from nine to eight and discussion of 
this proposal with the shareholder

•  re-appointment of specific retiring members of 
the board

•  recruitment process for the identification and 
appointment of a new director to replace 
retiring directors.  

The committee oversaw the search for the Chief 
Finance Officer (who was appointed as both 
Chief Finance Officer and a director effective on 
24 April 2017).   

The committee, in March 2017, agreed that 
Martin Read (as Chair of the Board and 
nomination committee), Jim Keohane (the Senior 
Independent Director) and the Chief Executive 
should form a subcommittee in relation to the 
recruitment of a new non-executive director to 
replace Tony White, who is scheduled to retire 
from the Board. The remit of the subcommittee 
included liaison with the external recruitment 
consultant selected to assist with the process, 
conducting the shortlisting and interview 
process and reporting progress back to the 
nomination committee.   

The minutes of committee meetings are 
circulated to the board. 

Remuneration Committee

The membership and responsibilities of this 
committee are described in the Remuneration 
Report at pages 51 to 54.
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Board and Committee Membership

The table below sets out the dates of appointment of the members to the board and the committees 
and details of those board members who resigned in the year. 

Board and committee meetings

The table below shows the number of board 
and committee meetings of the company 
held during the year ended 31 March 2018, 
and the attendance of the individual directors. 
All directors are expected to attend all board 
meetings and all members of committees are 
expected to attend all committee meetings. 

It should be emphasised that the table does 
not fully reflect the contribution made to the 
company’s business by many of the directors 
who have also attended other meetings 
(including with senior managers and/or for 
briefings on various matters) addressing matters 
raised ex-committee and attending events 
relating to the company’s business and activities 
during the year. In addition, generally members 
who could not attend a meeting provided 
comments on the papers for the meeting.

Director Role Board Audit, Risk 
& Assurance 
Committee 

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee 

Anne Baldock non-executive director App. 11/11/2014 App. 16/12/2014 App. 16/12/2014

Tony Bickerstaff non-executive director App. 11/11/2014 App. 16/12/2014

Simon Elliston non-executive director App. 16/12/2015 
Res 12/04/2018

App. 16/12/2015 
Res 12/04/2018

Catherine Gan Chief Finance Officer App.24/04/2017

Jim Keohane non-executive director App. 22/07/2014 App. 16/12/2014 App. 24/10/2017 App. 16/12/2014

Marion King non-executive director App. 11/11/2014 
Res. 11/11/2017

App. 16/12/2014 
Res. 11/11/2017

App. 16/12/2014 
Res. 11/11/2017

David Long non-executive director App. 27/10/2015 App. 27/10/2015

Neil McDermott Chief Executive App. 22/07/2014

Simon Orebi Gann non-executive director App. 11/11/2014 App. 16/12/2014 App. 16/12/2014

Martin Read Chair App. 22/07/2014 App. 16/12/2014 App.16/12/2014

Tony White non-executive director App. 11/11/2014 App. 13/12/2017 App. 16/12/2014 App. 16/12/2014
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Board Audit, Risk & Assurance 
Committee 

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Number of meetings 8 4 2 3

Anne Baldock 8 2 3

Tony Bickerstaff 8 4

Simon Elliston 8 4

Catherine Gan 8 (attends but not a member)

Jim Keohane 8 4 0** 3

Marion King* 2 1 0

David Long 8 3

Neil McDermott 8 (attends but not a member)

Simon Orebi Gann 8 4 2

Martin Read 8 2 3

Tony White 7 1** 2 2

Relations with shareholder  
and stakeholders

The company in accordance with its Framework 
Document maintains an appropriately regular 
dialogue with its shareholder. There is one 
shareholder nominated director (currently 
reduced from two shareholder nominated 
directors, due to the resignation of Simon 
Elliston on 12 April 2018).       

The company has also engaged in regular 
communication with industry and other 
stakeholders, including by stakeholder 
engagement events, annual stakeholder survey, 
regular newsletters and via its website.   

As a non-traded entity the company does not 
propose to have an annual general meeting.

Maintenance of a sound  
system of internal control 

The board has overall responsibility for the 
company’s risk management and system 
of internal controls and for reviewing 
their effectiveness. While retaining overall 
responsibility, the board has established a clear 
organisational structure and well defined delegated 

accountabilities for more regular and granular 
review of the effectiveness of the company’s risk 
management framework to the audit, assurance 
and risk committee and executive. 

The key elements and procedures established to 
provide effective risk management and internal 
controls have been established. The systems in 
place are monitored and embedded and are as 
set out below:

Control and assurance environment

•  The board is responsible for the company’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. The company’s system of 
internal control is designed to manage and 
where possible to mitigate the risks facing the 
company, safeguard the assets and provide 
reasonable (although not absolute) assurance 
against material financial misstatement 
or loss. The audit, risk and assurance 
committee assists the board in discharging 
its responsibilities (as further described below 
and in the section headed Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee on pages 44 to 45).  

*Resigned part way through the year 
**Appointed part way through the year 

Member attendance record 
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•  The board, with the assistance of the audit, 
risk and assurance committee, has reviewed 
and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the 
company’s systems of risk management and 
internal control. There have been no significant 
lapses in protective security.   

•  There is an appropriate quality assurance 
framework in place and applied to all business 
critical models.26

Risk management framework

•  The identification, mitigation and continual 
monitoring of significant business risks is 
the responsibility of senior management. 
Each functional department of the company 
maintains a risk register identifying the 
business risks and allocating responsibility for 
appropriate monitoring and the implementation 
of mitigating controls. Departmental risk 
registers and the company’s strategic risk 
register are kept under regular review by 
the senior management team and reported 
to the board and audit, risk and assurance 
committee, with the top strategic risks 
receiving particular attention. A risk workshop 
attended by senior employees was held during 
the year. Risk management processes are 
incorporated into the company’s management 
and governance systems at all levels and form 
a part of the company’s day to day operations.

•  The audit, risk and assurance committee 
formally reviews the risk position at each 
scheduled meeting (in 2017/18, in May 2017, 
July 2017, September 2017 and January 2018) 
and is updated on any significant risk matter 
which falls outside its formal review cycle. 
The committee considers the risk appetite of 
the company in relation to the principal risks 
and receives a completion report relating to 
the actions being undertaken to minimise and 
mitigate risk items.

•  The board reviews the strategic risk register 
twice per year (in 2017/18, in July and 
December 2017). The reports to the audit, 
risk and assurance committee and the 
board include a report from management 
on the status of the risk management and 
internal control, (if any) significant failings or 
weaknesses identified during the period and 
(if relevant) any actions taken to remedy any 
significant weaknesses.    

•  The board has reviewed, with the assistance 
of the audit, risk and assurance committee, 
and is satisfied that a comprehensive and 
robust process for identifying, assessing and 
managing the company’s principal risks is in 

place, including in respect of those risks that 
would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity. Reference 
is made to the more detailed risk report on  
pages 29 to 35.

Internal audit

•  The company has an internal audit function 
that provides the audit, risk and assurance 
committee with independent, objective 
assurance regarding internal controls and 
the risk management process as part of the 
company’s risk management and assurance 
regime. The audit, risk and assurance 
committee agrees a programme of internal 
audit work annually and reviews progress at 
each of its meetings. The annual audit plan 
takes into account current business risks. 
The focus of the internal audit function during 
2017/18 moved from a programme based 
on functional internal audits to audit work in 
relation to significant end to end processes 
and whether the key controls in those 
processes are operating effectively.   

Financial management and reporting 

•  There is a comprehensive strategic planning, 
budgeting and forecasting process within the 
company, with the business plan (including the 
annual budget) being approved by the board.

•  The company’s operational costs are set 
out in the annual budget. The process for 
establishing the annual budget involves a 
number of stages which provide challenge 
and accountability to ensure that a robust 
and prudent annual budget is prepared, 
which also ensures cost control and value for 
money for consumers. The draft budget is 
reviewed by the board, subsequent to which 
it is submitted to the shareholder for further 
review. The shareholder then undertakes a 
public consultation on the proposed budget. 
Subsequently the operational costs levy which 
funds the company’s budget is laid before 
Parliament in the form of regulations.

•  The company operates robust financial 
management processes to ensure that it 
manages within its budget so as not to exceed 
the operational costs levy.   

•  An update on the company’s progress, 
forecasts and results is reported in the 
management information report submitted to 
each board meeting.  

•  Senior management meet regularly with the 
Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer 

26 The company takes into account the MacPherson Review, HM Treasury Review of Quality Assurance of government analytical 
    models: Final Report, March 2013: 
   https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/220745/tax_pay_appointees_review_230512.pdf
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to discuss business progress and review 
management accounts.  

•  There is shareholder oversight of financial 
management as set out in the Framework 
Document and the Finance and Reporting 
Letter from the shareholder to the company 
dated 1 August 2014, including monthly 
reporting. 

•  The company is required to comply with 
the requirements set out in the Framework 
Document and the Finance and Reporting 
Letter, including the requirement to comply 
with the relevant requirements in HM Treasury 
guidance entitled “Managing Public Money”27.  

Operational

•   The senior management team meets on a 
weekly basis to review the operations of the 
company, its delivery, progress, issues and 
challenges. The Chief Executive has regular 
meetings with each member of the senior 
executive team.

•  The Chief Executive and the executive team 
meet with appropriate regularity with the 
shareholder and other stakeholders.

•  The commercial team, legal and other 
functional teams (including settlement) work 
closely together to ensure the appropriate 
interfaces and communication in relation 
to CFD management, with the governance, 
internal decision making and critical processes 
being documented.

•  The company reports on its significant  
matters relating to its operational activities 
at each board meeting, including CFD 
management matters.

•  The board decides on matters falling within 
the schedule of reserved matters (e.g. financial 
commitments over the specified threshold) or 
otherwise raised to it for decision.  

Procurement 

•  The company has in place an effective 
procurement policy which requires it to 
procure all goods and services in compliance 
with the relevant requirements in Managing 
Public Money, Cabinet Office controls and the 
public procurement regulations.  

•  The company is required to carry out 
procurement and project appraisal objectively 
and fairly, using cost benefit analysis and 
generally seeking good value for money.

Legal and compliance

•  There is a system for monitoring and 
embedding compliance, including by company 
policies and procedures as well as training and 
guidance to support compliance (e.g. relating 
to anti-bribery, whistle-blowing, anti-money 
laundering, health & safety and other legislative 
and good practice requirements). External 
obligations are driven primarily by key legal, 
statutory and regulatory requirements.

•  The company expects the highest standards 
from all employees and delivery partners.

•  The company considers and implements the 
requirements of the Alexander Tax Review in 
relation to the retention of consultants.28

Treasury management 

• The finance department:

 –  operates within policies agreed by the  
audit, risk and assurance committee   

 –  uses its resources efficiently, economically 
and effectively, avoiding waste  
and extravagance

 –  uses management information systems  
to gain assurance about value for money  
and the quality of delivery and so make 
timely adjustments 

 –  uses internal and external audit to improve  
its internal controls and performance. 

Insurance

•  Appropriate insurance is in place, with 
insurance cover being reviewed annually  
by the board. 

 

Neil McDermott 
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer

6 June 2018

27 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/454191/Managing_Public_Money_AA_v2_- 
   jan15.pdf 
28 HM Treasury, Review of tax arrangements of public sector appointees, May 2012: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/ 
   system/uploads/attachment_data/file/220745/tax_pay_appointees_review_230512.pdf
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Remuneration report
The company’s registered number is 08818711.

Remuneration committee

During 2017/18 and at year end this committee 
comprised Jim Keohane (chair), Anne Baldock, 
David Long, Martin Read and Tony White. 
The Framework Document requires that one 
shareholder nominated director should be a 
member of the committee. The committee 
consists of a majority of independent non-
executive directors, the board Chair and the 
shareholder nominated director.  

The responsibilities of the committee include:

•  setting the overall remuneration policy for  
the company 

•  setting the conditions of employment, 
including levels of salary and pension 
arrangements for executive directors and 
senior management, but subject to the 
shareholder’s consent being necessary to 
the remuneration or material variation to the 
remuneration of any executive director or 
employee whose salary is equal to or higher 
than the threshold set in Cabinet Office 
guidance in respect of senior pay

•  recommending the level of remuneration of 
the non-executive directors to the board, but 
subject to the shareholder’s consent being 
necessary to the remuneration or material 
variation to the remuneration of any director 

•  ensuring that the remuneration package  
for employees and salary levels are 
appropriately benchmarked

•  undertaking an evaluation of its  
own performance.

During the period the committee met three times 
and discussed the following matters:

•  2016/17 – Company Performance Report and 
Staff Incentive Scheme Award

•  2016/17 – Proposal for Senior Team Staff 
Incentive Scheme Award

•  2016/17 – CEO Award for 2016/17 and 
Objectives for 2017/18

•  Company Annual Pay Review

•  Company Scorecard for 2017/18

•  Company Pension 

•  Specific Role Contract Review

•  Reports on Salary Package Review

•  Interim Company Performance Report

•  Pension Consultation Update

•  Committee Annual Evaluation Update

•  Staff Turnover Report

•  Company Scorecard Annual Review

•  Committee Terms of Reference Amendment.

The minutes of each meeting are circulated  
to the board.

Directors and senior management 
remuneration

Advice on remuneration for the executive 
directors and senior management team was 
obtained in February 2017 and again in February 
2018 from the Hay Group. The Hay Group has 
no other connection with the company.   

No executive director is involved in deciding his 
or her own individual remuneration.
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Public sector reporting bodies are required 
to disclose the relationship between the 
remuneration of the highest paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of 
the organisation’s workforce. An annualised 
figure has been used to better reflect contractual 
salary. The annual remuneration of the highest 
paid director is £269,040 (2016/17: £263,29229). In 
2017/18 this is 4.2 times the median remuneration 
of the company’s workforce; (in 2016/17 this 
was 4.2) - which is £63,977 (2016/17: £61,12230). 
No employees receive salary in excess of the 
highest paid director. 

Procedures for developing policy and 
determining remuneration

The committee has responsibility for setting 
the compensation arrangements for the board 
and the executive directors. It also sets the 
broad framework for employee remuneration 
and benefits. The committee has access to the 
information it requires and has the authority to 
obtain the advice of external advisers.  

The committee assesses where to position 
the company in respect of remuneration 
matters relative to other companies and the 
requirements of the company’s business and 
operations. The company undertakes an annual 
benchmarking of employee salaries.    

The committee is required under its Framework 
Document to comply with Cabinet Office 
rules relating to the level of director and staff 
remuneration. The shareholder’s consent is 
required to any increase in excess of the level 
specified in the Cabinet Office rules.

Statement of remuneration policy

The remuneration policy is to:

•  provide a compensation package to attract, 
motivate and retain high quality employees  
in furtherance of the mission and strategy of 
the company

•  assess remuneration relative to other arm’s 
length bodies and other organisations 
(including in the private sector) engaged in 
functions or operations of similar size and 
complexity

•  set the performance targets to incentivise and 
reward sustainable business performance 
while not encouraging inappropriate business 
risks to be taken. 

A range of methods are used to ensure that 
the levels of compensation are appropriately 
benchmarked against external organisations. 

Pay review

After carefully considering the performance 
of the executive directors and other staff, the 
range of salaries offered to other staff and 
relevant market reference points, the committee 
approved a general pay review increase of 1.5% 
effective from 1 April 2017, with the specific 
amount to be awarded dependent on the 
company’s remuneration policy.      

The company obtains the consent of the 
shareholder prior to the implementation of 
any increase which would be above the level 
specified in the Cabinet Office rules.   

Executive directors

The executive directors’ remuneration has 
been designed to promote the long term 
success of the company. Their respective 
earnings consist of a base salary plus taxable 
benefits (permanent health insurance, private 
medical cover and life assurance); a defined 
contribution pension scheme; and an incentive 
bonus. The bonus links corporate and individual 
performance with an appropriate focus on 
delivery targets and the balance between short 
and long term elements. The committee, based 
on an assessment of individual and company 
performance against key objectives, has agreed 
the bonuses to the two executive directors for 
2017/18 as set out below.

Neil McDermott (Chief Executive) and Catherine 
Gan (Chief Finance Officer) are the relevant 
executive directors for the period. Pension 
benefits disclosed relate to both employer 
contributions to personal pension schemes 
and cash paid in lieu of pension contributions 
in accordance with employment contract 
arrangements.

29  The total remuneration figure includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not 
include severance payments, employer pension contributions, cash payments in lieu of pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

30  Salary increases took effect on 1 April 2017. It should be noted that while the median calculation for 2017/18 includes all salary, 
performance bonuses and benefits payable to staff members, not all staff members will receive a bonus. The reason for this is 
that a number of staff members may not have been with the company for the qualifying period.
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The performance related incentive bonuses are 
only approved for payment and paid in the year 
following the year to which they relate. As a result, 
any bonus relating to 2017/18 is not paid until 
early in 2018/19. Such bonuses are £43,252 for 
Neil McDermott and £23,468 for Catherine Gan. 

The executive director payments for 2017/18 
reflect that Neil McDermott received a 2% 
pay increase. Catherine Gan did not receive a 
pay increase in 2017/18 as she commenced 
employment with the company after the 
beginning of the financial year.

Non-executive director fees

Fees are payable to all non-executive directors, 
except the shareholder nominated directors. 
The company provides services to ESC and, for 
reasons of synergy, operational efficiency and 
cost effectiveness, the board of directors of the 
company and ESC are identical. The fees paid 
to directors therefore relate to work for both 
companies. The fees are paid by the company, 
with the appropriate amount relating to ESC 
(generally 20%) being recovered under the 
“recharge” arrangements described in note 2.5 
to the financial statements. 

Levels of remuneration for the remunerated 
non-executive directors reflect the time 
commitment and responsibilities of the role and 
reflect the advice on remuneration for directors 
and benchmarking information provided in 
2014, at time of their original appointments, by 
Odgers Berndtson (an independent recruitment 
consultancy). 

The shareholder nominated (or “governmental”) 
directors are not paid by the company.

No director is involved in deciding his or her own 
remuneration.

Name 2017/18  
Salary £

2017/18   
Performance 
Related Pay 
(Bonus)

2017/18  
Taxable 
Benefits 

2017/18  
Pension 
Payments 

2017/18 
Total 

Neil McDermott 2017/18: £220,674 

(2016/17: £216,347) 

2017/18: £42,404 

(2016/17: £41,411) 

2017/18: £5,962 

(2016/17: £5,534) 

2017/18: £22,067 

(2016/17: £21,634) 

2017/18: £291,107 

(2016/17: £284,926) 

Catherine Gan 2017/18: £137,109 

(2016/17: Nil*)

2017/18: Nil*

(2016/17: Nil*)

2017/18: £2,784

(2016/17: Nil*)

2017/18: £13,711 

(2016/17: Nil*)

2017/18: £153,604 

(2016/17: Nil*)

Helen Turner** 2017/18: Nil**

(2016/17: £117,980)

2017/18: Nil**

(2016/17: £27,304)

2017/18: Nil**

(2016/17: £1,998)

2017/18: Nil**

(2016/17: £11,798)

2017/18: Nil**

(2016/17: £158,713)

*Catherine Gan commenced employment with the company in April 2017, and therefore did not receive any rewards in respect 
of 2016/17 (and the performance bonus for 2017/18 is not paid until 2018/19).

**Helen Turner, the previous incumbent,left the position of the Chief Finance Officer role in December 2016, before the 
commencement of the financial year (accordingly, no remuneration figures are applicable in relation to Helen Turner).

Executive Directors’ Remuneration (audited)
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Name 2017/18 Fees Principal positions held elsewhere at 31 March 2018

Anne Baldock £25,000 
2016/17: £25,000

• ESC – non-executive director

• Bazalgette Tunnel Limited – non-executive director

Tony Bickerstaff £31,000 
2016/17: £31,000

• Costain Group Plc – Group Finance Director

• CBI Economic Growth Board – member

• ESC – non-executive director

Simon Elliston 0 (shareholder nominated 
director – civil servant)

• ESC – non-executive director

• Director of Finance and Commercial – BEIS (resigned from this 
   post subsequent to year end)

Catherine Gan N/a – see above • ESC – Chief Finance Officer and director

Jim Keohane £40,000 
2016/17: £40,000

• Harwich Haven Authority – chair

• Meter Operator Services Ltd - chair

• ESC – non-executive director

Marion King £15,353 
2016/17: £25,000

• Royal Bank of Scotland – Group Director of Payments

• Payments UK – director

David Long 0 (shareholder nominated 
director – public servant)

• Executive Director, UK Government Investments

• ESC – non-executive director

•  BIS (Postal Services Act 2011) Company Ltd – non-executive   
director

Neil McDermott N/A – see above • ESC – Chief Executive and director

Simon Orebi Gann £25,000 
2016/17: £25,000

•  ESC – non-executive director
•  Aspen Technology Inc (NASDAQ: AZPN) – USA – non-executive 

director
•  Market Operator Services Ltd – non-executive director

•  Treasury/Cabinet Office Major Programmes Review Group – 
independent panel member

Martin Read £96,000 (including £24,000 
relating to ESC)

2016/17: £118,000** (including 
£24,000 relating to ESC)

•  Laird plc – chair

•  Remuneration Consultants Group – chair

•  ESC – chair

•  UK Government Senior Salaries Review Body – chair 

•  Lloyds of London (Franchise Board) – non-executive director

•  Hampshire Technology Centre Trust - trustee

Tony White £25,000 
2016/17: £25,000

•  ESC non-executive director

•  Green Energy Options – non-executive director

•  BW Energy Ltd – director

•  The Ecofin Research Foundation – trustee director 

•  First Utility Trust – trustee

•  Sark Electricity Price Control Commissioner

* The above is the only form of remuneration that each non-executive director receives from LCCC. LCCC receives 20% of the 
directors’ fees from ESC under its re-charge arrangements with ESC (other than in respect of Martin Read where the amount 
relating to ESC is as stated) – see note 2.5 to the financial statements.

** This figure is restated from 2016/17 (which referred to £120,000) to reflect the fact that the Chair’s fee was adjusted, effective 
1 March 2017. 

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration (audited)
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
sole shareholder of the Low Carbon 
Contracts Company Ltd

Opinion on financial statements

I have audited the financial statements of the 
Low Carbon Contracts Company Limited (“the 
company”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 
which comprise:

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income; 

•  the Statement of Financial Position; 

•  the Statement of Cash Flows; 

•  the Statement of Changes in Equity; 

•  and the related notes, including the significant 
accounting policies. 

The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006. I have also audited 
the information in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report that is described as having been audited.

In my opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the 
company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and  
of the result for the year then ended; 

•  have been properly prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European  
Union; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with  
the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of matter – Contracts for 
Difference (“CFD”) derivative and 
associated supplier obligation asset

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to 
the disclosures made in note 26 to the financial 
statements concerning the measurement 
of liabilities relating to CFDs. As this note 
describes, the fair value of these liabilities is 

highly sensitive to assumptions regarding future 
prices and volumes, particularly in view of the 
long timescales involved. This sensitivity also 
applies to the measurement of these liabilities 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
(which are adjusted in respect of the difference 
between fair value and transaction price on initial 
recognition) and the matching Supplier Obligation 
Levy asset. As disclosed in note 28, the Low 
Carbon Contracts Company has concluded that 
the uncertainty over the estimate of the valuation 
of the CFD for Hinkley Point C is such that the 
liability does not meet the recognition criteria set 
out in the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting. 

Opinion on regularity

In my opinion, in all material respects the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied by the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions recorded in the financial statements 
conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis of opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) 
(UK) and Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial 
Statements of Public Sector Entities in the 
United Kingdom’. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report. Those 
standards require me and my staff to comply with 
the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical 
Standard 2016. I am independent of the company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit and the financial 
statements in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

The regularity framework described in the table 
below has been applied:
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Overview of my audit approach
Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my 
professional judgment, were of most significance 
in my audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that I identified.

I consider the following areas of particular audit 
focus to be those areas that had the greatest 
effect on my overall audit strategy, the allocation 
of resources in my audit and directing the efforts 
of the audit team in the current year. These 
matters were addressed in the context of my 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified 
by my audit but only those areas that had the 
greatest effect on my overall audit strategy, 

allocation of resources and direction of effort. 
I have not, for example, included information 
relating to the work I have performed around 
the presumed risk of management override 
of controls under International Standard on 
Auditing (UK) 240, the Auditor’s Responsibility 
Relating to Fraud in Financial Statements, an 
area where my work has not identified any 
matters to report. 

The areas of focus were discussed with the 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee; their 
report on matters that they considered to be 
significant to the financial statements is set out 
on page 45.

In this year’s report there are no changes to 
the risks identified compared to the prior year 
report. 

Regularity Framework

Authorising legislation •  Energy Act 2013

•  The Contracts for Difference (Counterparty 
Designation) Order 2014

•  Companies Act 2006
•  Articles of Association

Parliamentary authorities •  The Contracts for Difference (Electricity Supplier 
Obligations) Regulations 2014

Shareholder, HM Treasury and related 
authorities

•  Framework Document between the Secretary of 
State and the company

•  Managing Public Money and Cabinet Office 
spending controls (to the extent they are applicable 
to the company)
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I assessed the valuation of the company’s financial liability for 
CFDs to be a significant risk for my audit based on materiality 
and the degree of estimation uncertainty inherent in the 
estimate which involves forecasting electricity generation 
volumes and wholesale prices over the life of the contracts 
(which extend into the late 2030s). 
 
As disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, 
management has estimated the fair value of financial liabilities 
arising from CFDs (excluding the Hinkley Point C CFD) to be 
£39,201 million at 31 March 2018, of which £15,892 million 
has been recognised in the statement of financial position 
and the remainder has been deferred. 
 
In preparing its fair value estimate the company applies 
wholesale electricity price forecasts generated by the 
Department for Energy and Industrial Strategy using their 
in-house model. The long-term forecasts involve a series 
of significant judgements which are both complex and 
subjective. 
 
An error in the inputs or assumptions used, or a calculation 
error, could result in a material misstatement of the financial 
statements. In addition, the valuation model is complex 
and small changes in assumptions can lead to material 
movements in the valuation. 
 
The uncertainties inherent in determining the fair value of 
CFDs are further discussed in the disclosures made in note 
26 to the financial statements.

I assessed the company’s controls over the valuation of the 
CFD liability.

To gain substantive assurance over management’s 
point estimate, I constructed my own range as a point of 
comparison. In constructing the auditor’s range, I assessed 
the reasonableness of the inputs used by the company 
underpinning assumptions of both future electricity volumes 
and future market prices, and considered the plausibility of 
possible alternatives. In doing so, I considered the principles 
of fair value, which includes the concept of an exit price for 
the asset or liability being valued, and wherever possible 
based my auditor’s range on data sources which would be 
consulted by counterparties in a theoretical exit transaction 
(for instance, by using forecast price series from reputable 
third parties).

As required by auditing standards, I narrowed the auditor’s 
range to the point where I considered all outcomes within 
it to represent reasonable estimates of fair value. The span 
of my constructed range reflects the significant degree 
of uncertainty inherent in estimating fair value for these 
instruments.

Management’s point valuation fell within my constructed 
range, on the basis of which I judge it to be a reasonable 
estimate.

Accounting for the Hinkley Point C CFD 

In the preparation of its financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2017, management concluded that the 
liability arising from the Hinkley Point C (HPC) CFD failed to 
meet the reliability criteria for recognition within the financial 
statements. Specifically, management concluded that it could 
not prepare an estimate which was complete, neutral and 
free from error in respect of the cash flows in the later years 
of the contract (which is expected to continue generating 
cash flows until 2061). I evaluated management’s judgement 
on non-recognition as reasonable in the prior year and 
concluded that the disclosures made in respect of the HPC 
CFD liability were properly prepared.  
 
As disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, 
management’s judgement remains that, for the time 
being, the HPC CFD fails to meet the reliability criteria for 
recognition within the financial statements. Whilst I did not 
identify the valuation of the HPC CFD liability as a significant 
risk for my audit (on the basis that it is not recognised in 
the financial statements) the accounting treatment for this 
contract remains a significant judgement and an area of 
focus for my audit. Management has estimated the fair value 
of the HPC CFD to be £36,585 million at 31 March 2018.

Management revisited the assessment it had made in the 
prior year and concluded that the HPC CFD liability continued 
to fail to meet the reliability criteria for recognition within the 
financial statements. I reviewed this assessment and the 
evidence underpinning it. I continue to judge as reasonable 
management’s assertion in note 28 that the HPC CFD 
should not be recognised in order to avoid the introduction of 
excessive reliability issues into the financial statements.

I have reviewed the adequacy of disclosures around 
management’s fair value estimate for HPC presented in 
note 28 and found these to be properly prepared, and a 
fair reflection of the estimation uncertainty inherent to this 
contract.

Fair Value of Contracts for Difference (CFDs) (excluding Hinkley Point C)
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Audited Area Basis Materiality

Account balances and transaction 
streams not connected with 
the valuation of Contracts for 
Difference and to support my 
opinion on regularity

2% of the combined value of gross operating expenditure and 
payments to CFD generators. I determined that for financial 
statement components unconnected with the valuation of CFDs, 
misstatements of a lesser amount than overall financial statement 
materiality could influence the decisions of users of the accounts.

£11m

Overall Financial Statement 
Materiality (applying to all audited 
areas with the exception of those 
listed above)

2% of the disclosed fair value of the CFD liability, excluding 
Hinkley Point C which does not meet the criteria to be recognised 
within the financial statements. I chose this benchmark given 
that I consider it to be principal interest to users of the financial 
statements as one of the company’s primary objectives is to 
manage CFDs. 

£780m

Application of materiality 
I applied the concept of materiality in both plan-
ning and performing my audit, and in evaluating 
the effect of misstatements on my audit and on 
the financial statements. This approach recognis-
es that financial statements are rarely absolutely 
correct, and that an audit is designed to provide 

reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement or irregularity. A matter is material if 
its omission or misstatement would, in the judge-
ment of the auditor, reasonably influence the 
decisions of users of the financial statements.  

As well as quantitative materiality there are 
certain matters that, by their very nature, would 
if not corrected influence the decisions of users. 
For example, any errors reported in Directors’ 
Remuneration or any errors in operational costs 
that would have resulted in the company report-
ing an overspend against its operational budget. 
Assessment of such matters would need to have 
regard to the nature of the misstatement and the 
applicable legal and reporting framework, as well 
as the size of the misstatement.

I applied the same concept of materiality to my 
audit of regularity. In planning and performing 
audit work in support of my opinion on regular-
ity and evaluating the impact of any irregular 
transactions, I took into account both quantita-
tive and qualitative aspects that I consider would 
reasonably influence the decisions of users of the 
financial statements. 

I agreed with the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee that I would report to it all uncorrect-
ed misstatements identified through my audit in 
excess of £220,000, as well as differences below 
this threshold that in my view warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for 
the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities Statement, the directors are 
responsible for: 
 
•  the preparation of the financial statements and 

for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view;

•  such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

•  assessing the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, if applicable, 
matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

My responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs) (UK). 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), 
I exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
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•  identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

•  obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control.

•  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

•  conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, I am required to 
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
my opinion. My conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

•  evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit.

In addition, I am required to obtain evidence 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
income and expenditure reported in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them.

Audit scope 

The scope of my audit was determined by 
obtaining an understanding of the entity and its 
environment, including entity-wide controls, and 
assessing the risks of material misstatement at 
the entity level.

Other Information

Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
information included in the annual report, other 
than the parts of the Remuneration Report 
described in that report as having been audited, 
the financial statements and my auditor’s report 
thereon. My opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. In connection with my audit of the 
financial statements, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work I have performed, I conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. I 
have nothing to report in this regard.

I am specifically required to address the following 
items and to report uncorrected material 
misstatements of the other information where 
I conclude that those items do not meet the 
following conditions:

•  Fair, balanced and understandable: the 
statement given by the directors that the annual 
report and accounts taken as a whole are fair, 
balanced and understandable and provide 
the necessary information to enable users 
to assess the entity’s performance, business 
model and strategy, is materially consistent with 
my knowledge obtained in the audit; or

•  Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee 
reporting: the section describing the work of 
the company’s Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee appropriately addresses matters 
communicated by me to the Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee.

I also have nothing to report in this regard

Opinion on other matters prescribed by 
the Companies Act 

Directors’ remuneration

In my opinion the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.
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I also report to you if, in my opinion, certain 
disclosures of directors’ remuneration required 
have not been made. I have nothing to report 
arising from this duty.

The strategic and directors’ reports

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken 
in the course of the audit, the information given 
in the Strategic and Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements and those reports have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the company and its environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, I have not identified any 
material misstatements in the Strategic Report or 
the Directors’ Report.

The corporate governance report 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of the audit:

•  the information given in the corporate 
governance report, in compliance with rules 
7.2.5 and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Rules 
and Transparency Rules sourcebook made 
by Financial Conduct Authority (the FCA 
Rules), in respect of internal control and risk 
management systems in relation to financial 
reporting processes, and about share capital 
structures, is consistent with the accounts 
and has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

•  rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the FCA Rules 
about the company’s corporate governance 
code and practices and about its administrative, 
management and supervisory bodies and their 
committees have been complied with.

Based on my knowledge and understanding 
of the company and its environment obtained 
during the course of the audit, I have identified no 
material misstatements in this information.

Matters on which I report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records 
information and explanations received

I report to you if, in my opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been 
kept, or returns adequate for my audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by my 
staff;

•  the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; 

•  I have not received all of the information and 
explanations I require for my audit; or

•  a corporate governance statement has not 
been prepared by the company.

I have nothing to report arising from this duty.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, 
going concern and viability statement

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK), 
I am required to report to you if I have anything 
material to add, or to draw attention to, in relation 
to the directors’ disclosures in the annual report 
and financial statements:

•  confirming that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of principal risks facing the 
company, including those that would threaten 
its business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity;

•  describing those risks and explaining how they 
are being managed or mitigated; 

•  on whether they considered it appropriate 
to adopt the going concern basis, and their 
identification of any material uncertainties to the 
entity’s ability to continue over a period of at 
least twelve months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements; and

•  explaining how they have assessed the 
prospects of the company, over what 
period they have done so and why they 
consider that period to be appropriate, and 
their statement as to whether they have a 
reasonable expectation that the company will 
be able to continue in operation and meet 
its liabilities as they fall due over the period 
of their assessment, including any related 
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary 
qualifications or assumptions.

I have nothing material to add, or to draw 
attention to, on these matters.   

Susan Clark 
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (Statutory 
Auditor)

National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
London, SW1W 9SP

7 June 2018
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March

2018 2017

Note £’000 £’000

Other income 6 15,011 15,266

Supplier Obligation Levy 27 4,102,520      1,064,055

Fair value movement of CFDs 26 (4,102,520)      (1,064,055)

Staff costs 7 (5,652) (5,336)

Depreciation 9 (178) (168)

Amortisation 10 (732) (505)

Other operating costs 8 (8,449) (9,257)

Profit for the year – –

Other comprehensive income for the year – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – –

All operations are continuing operations.

The notes on pages 67 to 89 form part of these accounts.
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Financial statements

2018 2017

Note £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 227 384

Intangible assets 10 1,596 2,328

Supplier Obligation Levy 27 15,892,096 12,333,869

Total non-current assets 15,893,919 12,336,581

Current assets

Operational costs levy receivable 11 1,753 1,394

Supplier Obligation Levy receivable 12 36,922 42,553

Trade and other receivables 13 221 285

Cash and cash equivalents 14 78,048 40,266

Total current assets 116,944 84,498

Total assets 16,010,863 12,421,079

Current liabilities

Operational costs levy payable 15 (2,788) (3,835)

Supplier Obligation Levy and generators payments payable 16 (100,781) (71,999)

Trade and other payables 17 (13,104) (7,131)

Borrowings 18 (402) (402)

Finance Lease Obligations 19 (220)  (220)

Provisions 20 – (1,500)

Total current liabilities (117,295) (85,087)

Non-current liabilities

Contracts for Difference 26  (15,892,096) (12,333,869)

Trade and other payables 17 (440) (620)

Borrowings 18 (466) (727)

Finance Lease Obligations 19 (499) (709)

Provisions 20 (67)  (67)

Total non-current liabilities (15,893,568) (12,335,992)

Total liabilities  (16,010,863)  (12,421,079)

Net assets – –

Shareholders’ equity and other reserves

Share capital 21 – –

Retained earnings – –

Total equity – –

Statement of financial position  
as at 31 March

The notes on pages 67 to 89 form part of these accounts. 
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 6 June 2018 and signed on its behalf on 6 June 2018 by: 

Neil McDermott
Chief Executive Officer 

Catherine Gan
Chief Finance Officer
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Statement of changes in equity for the  
year ended 31 March

Share capital Retained 
earnings

Total equity

£’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2016 – – –

Share capital issued – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – –

As at 31 March 2017 – – –

Share capital issued – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – –

As at 31 March 2018 – – –

As at 31 March 2018 the company has one authorised ordinary share, issued and fully paid. 
The notes on pages 67 to 89 form part of these accounts.
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Financial statements

2018 2017

Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year – –

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 178 168

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 732 505

Amortisation of government grant liability 22 (166) (155)

Loss on disposal 9 – 1

Working capital adjustments:

(Increase)/decrease in operational costs levy receivable 11 (359) (139)

(Increase)/decrease in Supplier Obligation Levy receivable 12 4,131 (41,053)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 13 64 (98)

Increase in operational costs levy payable 15 (1,047) 1,160

Increase in Supplier Obligation Levy and generators payments payable 16 28,782 56,486

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 17 6,001 5,026

Net cash inflow from operating activities 38,316 21,901

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (63) (103)

Purchase of intangible assets 10 – (40)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (63) (143)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Decrease in borrowings 18 (261) (277)

Finance Lease obligations payment 19 (210) (126)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (471) (403)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 37,782 21,355

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 40,266 18,911

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 78,048 40,266

 
The notes on pages 67 to 89 form part of these accounts.

Statement of cash flows for the  
year ended 31 March
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Statement of cash flows for the  
year ended 31 March

Notes to the financial statements for the  
year ended 31 March 2018

1.  Authorisation of  
financial statements

The financial statements of Low Carbon 
Contracts Company Ltd (the “company’’) for 
the year ended 31 March 2018 were approved 
and authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the board on 6 June 2018.

The company is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in the UK.  
The company’s registered office is at Fleetbank 
House, 2-6 Salisbury Square, EC4Y 8JX. 
The company is unlisted and wholly owned by 
the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (the “shareholder”) making it 
the company’s ultimate controlling party. 

1.1 Principal activities  
The company has been established to act as 
the counterparty for Contracts for Difference 
(CFDs). The company will also undertake such 
other activities that the board considers to be 
consistent with the company’s functions, duties, 
obligations and constitution.  

The company and the Electricity Settlements 
Company Ltd (ESC) currently share a number 
of common resources to minimise overall costs, 
but they remain legally separate entities. At 
present all administrative functions of ESC are 
provided by the company, with the cost of these 
functions being recovered by the company 
through a recharge to ESC (note 2.5). 

2. Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation 
These financial statements are presented in 
pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand pounds (£’000).

The financial statements of the company 
have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. 

These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified for the 
treatment of financial instruments.

2.2 Going concern 
The directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the company has adequate resources to 
continue to operate for the foreseeable future. 
The financial statements are, therefore, prepared 
on a going concern basis. 

In forming this view, the directors note that the 
company:

i.   applies prudent financial management in 
order to ensure that its commitments are 
accommodated within the timing of its 
collection of its operational costs levy and the 
Supplier Obligation Levy;

ii.  undertakes a robust and detailed annual 
business planning and budgeting process to 
establish its operational cost requirements for 
each financial year; and

iii.   has considered the potential impact of credit 
risk and liquidity risk detailed in note 3.

The day to day operational costs of the 
company are funded by electricity suppliers 
under the operational costs levy which is set 
by the Contracts for Difference regulations as 
outlined below are referred to hereafter as the 
“Regulations”: 
  The Contracts for Difference (Electricity   
  Supplier Obligations) Regulations 2014 (as   
  amended).

The operational costs levy is reset by new 
amending regulations and has currently been set 
for the next three years.  

During the course of a year, the company may, 
where it identifies that there is likely to be a 
shortfall in the collection of the operational 
costs levy against its requirements, request 
BEIS to support an in-year adjustment to the 
applicable levy rate. Such an adjustment would 
be subject to public consultation and the making 
of new regulations in accordance with the 
same process that applies to the setting of the 
operational costs levy. The company can also 
request a working capital loan from BEIS if there 
is a shortfall in its operating cash flow.   

Payments to CFD generators are funded by 
suppliers under the Regulations. The terms of the 
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CFD state that the company’s obligation is to pay 
when paid (i.e. the company has no obligation 
to pay the generators until it receives adequate 
funds from suppliers to perform its obligation). 

2.3 Operational costs levy income 
Under the Regulations, the company is entitled 
to recover its operational costs through the 
operational costs levy on suppliers referred 
to above. The levy rate charged is based on 
the company’s budget and the total forecast 
electricity demand for the financial year. The 
rate set for 2017/18 after public consultation was 
£0.0524/MWh (2016/17: £0. 0509/MWh), which 
is apportioned to suppliers based on the amount 
of electricity they supply in a levy year (which 
runs from 1 April to 31 March). For 2018/19 the 
operational costs levy has been set at £0.0570/
MWh and will be apportioned to suppliers based 
on the actual electricity they supply in the levy 
year from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. The 
operational cost levy has also been set for the 
following two years, for 2019/20 at £0.0592/
MWh and for 2020/21 at £0.0614/MWh. 

As the levy rate is based on estimates of the 
company’s expenses for the financial year and 
on the estimated overall amount of electricity 
supplied over the levy year, the amount collected 
is unlikely to match actual expenditure. As set 
out in the Regulations, any surplus at the end of 
the financial year will be reimbursed to suppliers 
and is classified as an operational costs levy 
payable under current liabilities.

The operational costs levy is recognised as 
‘other income’ in the financial year to which it 
relates and is presented net of any operational 
costs levy repayable to suppliers.  

The operational costs levy is recognised on an 
accrued basis and is collected alongside the 
principal Supplier Obligation Levy (relating to 
payments to CFD generators) in the same daily 
invoice using the same settlement systems. 
The company’s settlement service provider, 
Electricity Market Reform Settlement Limited 
(EMRS), administers the collection process.

2.4  Total Reserve Amount and Interim Levy 
Rate payment

As required by the Regulations, the company 
collects Supplier Obligation Levy payments from 
electricity suppliers which comprise two key 
elements:

(a) an Interim Levy Rate, charged on a daily basis 
at a fixed £/MWh rate on electricity supplied 
each day across each levy quarter; and

(b) a Total Reserve Amount which is a lump sum 
‘reserve’ payment made in respect of each levy 
quarter at the start of the quarter.

The Total Reserve Amount is the amount the 
company determines is needed for there to be 
a 19 in 20 (i.e. 95%) probability of being able to 
make all the CFD generation payments required 
during that quarter, having regard to:

(a) the amount of Interim Levy Rate payments 
which it expects to collect from suppliers during 
the quarter;

(b) the likelihood of any supplier failing to make 
payments during the quarter; 

(c) the estimated income to be received by the 
company from CFD generators in the quarter;

(d) the estimated amount of electricity to be 
supplied by suppliers in the quarter; and 

(e) the estimated amount the company will need 
in the quarter to pay CFD generators.

At the end of every quarterly levy period, 
the company undertakes a reconciliation of 
suppliers’ payments (i.e. Total Reserve Amount 
and Interim Levy Rate payment) against 
suppliers’ CFD liabilities. The amount of the 
reconciliation payment to be paid to, or by, a 
supplier in respect of the quarter is:

(a) the total amount payable to the  
generators, less

(b) the Total Reserve Amount and Interim Levy 
Rate payment for that period.

Reconciliation payments become due 5 days 
after the reconciliation notice is issued, on the 
same day as the next quarter’s Total Reserve 
Amount becomes due. The reconciliation 
payment is recognised as repayable to suppliers 
and is classified as a Supplier Obligation Levy 
and generators payments payable under 
“current liabilities”.

The Interim Levy Rate (£/MWh) is set quarterly 
and is based on the forecast of the amount 
expected to be paid to CFD parties in respect 
of the quarter under every CFD or connected 
agreement to which the company is, or is 
likely to become, a party to during the relevant 
quarter, having regard to the:

(a) estimated payments that the company will 
need to make to CFD generators in respect to 
generation during the quarter;

(b) estimated income expected to be received by 
the company from CFD generators in respect of 
the quarter; and

 (c) estimated amount of electricity to be 
supplied by suppliers during the quarter.
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One of the key factors relating to the collection 
and recognition of levy payments from suppliers 
is the date of expected generation of low carbon 
electricity which will result in the company’s 
payment to generators under the CFDs.

As the levy payments made by suppliers to 
the company are in advance of the required 
payments by the company to generators, the 
company’s liability is only to “pay when paid” 
and additionally 21 days of collateral cover is 
also required from suppliers, the credit and 
liquidity risks are minimal.

2.5 Recharges 
ESC is a sister company, also owned by the 
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy, which is responsible for 
managing the Capacity Market settlement 
process. In order to maximise operational 
cost efficiency, the company provides certain 
services to ESC and makes certain payments on 
its behalf. Typically, this includes common costs 
such as staff costs, shared IT infrastructure 
and the use of shared resources and facilities. 
The recharge includes costs incurred on 
those activities which allow ESC to perform its 
functions in relation to the Capacity Market.  

This recharge is based on an estimate of the 
time the company’s employees will spend 
on ESC activities during the relevant financial 
year, together with an appropriate allocation of 
overhead costs (including rent, service charges, 
IT infrastructure support and telephony) and a 
use of asset charge. It also includes a proportion 
of the salaries of the board members who divide 
their time between the two companies. The 
company undertakes these activities on behalf 
of ESC and the ESC board retains responsibility 
and accountability for the quality and cost of 
services provided by the company.

The company and ESC are part of the same VAT 
group, therefore no VAT is charged on recharge 
income. The company’s income is outside the 
scope of VAT, so it will be unable to recover its 
input VAT on any of its expenditure.  

2.6 Government grants 
Grants from the Government are recognised 
at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and 
the company will comply with all the attached 
conditions.  

The company has received a capital loan 
from BEIS, which is repayable in line with the 
depreciation over the useful life of the asset. 
The loan is interest free and is recognised under 
borrowings. The benefit of a below market 
rate of interest on the capital loan for capital 
expenditure, if material, is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income over the 
period of the loan.

2.7 Financial assets
2.7.1 Classification 
The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined 
at the time of initial recognition. Management 
determines the categorisation of financial 
assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at each reporting date.

Loans and receivables  
These are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans and 
receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other receivables. There are no 
loans receivable held by the company.

2.7.2 Recognition and measurement 
Trade and other receivables are initially 
measured at fair value inclusive of transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, they are carried 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment in accordance 
with IAS 39. Short term receivables have not 
been discounted to their net present value as 
it is management’s view that the recognition of 
interest would not be material.

The carrying amount of the trade and other 
receivables approximates to their fair value. 

2.7.3 Impairment of financial assets
2.7.3.1 Assets carried at amortised cost 
The company must assess at the end of each 
reporting period whether its financial assets or 
group of financial assets require impairment. 
Financial assets are impaired where there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset have been 
adversely impacted and the impact can be 
reliably estimated. Gains or losses arising  
when the asset is impaired or derecognised  
are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Financial assets are derecognised when  
the rights to receive future cash flows have 
expired or are transferred and the company  
has transferred substantially all the risks and  
rewards of ownership.

2.7.4 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held 
at bank and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
change of value.

2.8  Determination of fair value of financial 
instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the 
price that would be received to sell, or paid to 
transfer, a particular asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.
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The fair value of financial instruments is 
determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques are 
applied using, where possible:

•  quoted prices in an active market for identical 
assets or liabilities (level 1);

•  inputs other than quoted market prices that 
are observable for the asset or liability (level 2); 

•  unobservable inputs for the asset or  
liability (level 3).

2.9 Financial liabilities
The company classifies financial liabilities into 
the following categories:

•  financial liabilities at fair value through profit  
or loss (FVTPL);

• other financial liabilities.

The categorisation of financial liabilities depends 
on the purpose for which the financial liability 
is held or acquired. Management determines 
the categorisation of financial liabilities at initial 
recognition and re-evaluates this designation  
at each reporting date.

2.9.1 Recognition and measurement
2.9.1.1 Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL where 
the financial liability is designated as FVTPL 
upon initial recognition.

Contracts for Difference (CFDs) 
CFDs are a mechanism introduced to support 
new investment in low carbon generation. They 
have been established as private law contracts 
between the generator and the company. 

CFDs have been designated as FVTPL and 
are stated at fair value, with any resultant 
gain or loss recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

The fair value of the CFDs has been calculated 
using the income approach based on level 3 
inputs, which reflects the present value of future 
cash flows that are expected to occur over the 
contract term of the CFD. 

The difference between the fair value of the 
liability at initial recognition (day one) and 
the transaction price, is deferred unless the 
calculation can be based on observable inputs 
which at this point in time is not the case  
for CFDs.

The deferred difference between the fair value of 
the liability on day one and the transaction price 
is amortised over the relevant payment period 
of the CFDs, which commences from the earlier 

of i) the actual start date of generation or ii) the 
end of the Target Commissioning Window (TCW) 
identified in the CFD, as this is the point at which 
the contractual liability will start to unwind (i.e. 
it is the point at which the potential payment 
period under the CFD commences).   

The significance of these two dates is that they 
are the part of the contractual provisions which 
determine when the right to potential CFD 
payments starts. The contract payment period is 
typically for 15 years, although contracts relating 
to biomass conversion have an expiration date 
in 2027 and the bespoke Hinkley Point C has 
a contract payment for 35 years. CFDs may 
be signed many years in advance of actual 
generation. The main benefit to generators is the 
fact that they can derive economic benefit from 
these contracts over the payment period life of 
the contract. 

Typically, if generators start generating within 
their TCW (which is specified in the contract) 
then the generation period starts from the date 
of generation and, subject to all conditions being 
met, the generator can extract benefit for the 
full term of the contract. If generators miss the 
end of their TCW (and it is not extended under 
the terms of the contract) then the payment life 
period commences at the end of their TCW even 
if the generator is not in a position to generate. 
If the generator does not achieve the required 
minimum generation capacity by the contractual 
Longstop Date, the company has a right to 
terminate the CFD.

After initial recognition, the company recognises 
the deferred difference as a gain or loss only 
to the extent that it arises from a change in a 
factor (including time) that market participants 
would take into account when pricing the asset 
or liability. 

Changes in fair value arising after day one, are 
recognised in the reporting period that they 
occur and are accounted for in the statement  
of comprehensive income and in the statement 
of financial position as they arise.

CFDs which were initially signed by the 
Secretary of State and subsequently transferred 
to the company have been recognised at BEIS’s 
CFD carrying value at the date of transfer. Any 
day one difference is calculated at the point 
the CFD was signed by the Secretary of State 
and is treated in line with the company’s policy 
as stated above. Subsequent revaluations of 
these contracts will also be treated in line with 
company policy.

The CFD is not recognised on the accounts when 
a reasonable estimate of the value of that CFD 
cannot be measured with reliability. As explained 
in note 28, the company has not recognised the 
Hinkley Point C CFD in the accounts.
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2.9.1.2 Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

2.9.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, 
and only when, the obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, 
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, if any. The company’s capitalisation 
threshold for property, plant and equipment is 
£2,000, except where an individual asset is  
part of a group of assets that in aggregate 
exceed £2,000.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
at rates calculated to write them down to 
their estimated residual value on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The depreciation expense is charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Assets are depreciated over the  
following periods:

Leasehold items will be depreciated over the 
shorter of their useful life and the lease term.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

2.11 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition 
at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets have finite lives and are 
amortised over their useful economic life, 
assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset  
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at  
the end of each reporting period. 

Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortisation period  
or method, as appropriate, and are treated  
as changes in accounting estimates.  

The amortisation expense on intangible assets 
with finite lives is recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income in the expense 
category that is consistent with the function  
of the intangible assets. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the 
following periods:

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income when 
the asset is derecognised.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Intangible assets are only subject to amortisation 
to the extent that they are available for use. 
Intangible assets which are not available for 
use are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  

At each reporting date, the company reviews 
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of any impairment 
loss.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows (cash-generating 
units). Impairment losses are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income and prior 
impairments of non-financial assets are reviewed 
for possible reversal at each reporting date.

2.13 Leases
Determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. 
The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 
the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or 
assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified 
in an arrangement. 

Years

Settlement System 5

Other IT software 5

Years

Leasehold improvements 5

IT equipment 3

Furniture and fittings 10
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A lease is classified at the inception date as a 
finance lease or an operating lease. Leases are 
classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases. 

2.13.1 Finance leases
Company as a lessee 
Lease of the settlement system where the 
company has substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership is classified as a  
finance lease. Finance leases are capitalised  
at commencement of the lease at the lower  
of the fair value of the leased asset and the  
present value of the minimum lease payments.  
The present value of the minimum lease 
payments of the settlement system approximates 
to its fair value.

The settlement system acquired under a finance 
lease is depreciated over the shorter of the 
useful life of the asset and the lease term.  
The useful life of the settlement system is 
equivalent to the lease term.

2.13.2 Operating leases 
Lease rentals relating to office premises are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight line basis over the term of 
the lease. The rent free period received as an 
incentive to enter into the property operating 
lease has been spread on a straight line basis 
over the lease term. 

2.14 Staff Costs 
Under IAS 19, Employee Benefits, all staff costs 
are recorded as an expense as the company is 
obligated to pay them; this includes the cost of 
any untaken leave as at the reporting date.  

2.15 Pensions  
The company operates a defined contribution 
personal pension scheme for eligible employees. 
Under the defined contribution scheme the 
company pays fixed contributions into a fund 
separate from the company’s assets. Contributions 
are charged in the statement of comprehensive 
income when they become payable.

2.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company 
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, that can be reliably 
measured, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle  
that obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation. The accounting policy 
allows for an increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time (time value of money) which 
would be recognised as an interest expense.

2.17 Segmental reporting
The company operates solely within the UK 
and within one business segment; hence no 
segmental reporting is required. This is consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the 
directors of the company, who are considered the 
company’s chief operating decision makers.

2.18 Borrowings 
Borrowings represent a grant in aid capital 
loan from BEIS. Borrowings are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs, if any) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.19 Supplier Obligation Levy recognition
The statement of financial position reflects three 
separately reported elements of the Supplier 
Obligation Levy which are as follows:

i) Supplier Obligation Levy (reported as a  
non-current asset i.e. receivable in more than 
one year);

ii) Supplier Obligation Levy receivable (reported 
as a current asset i.e. receivable in less than  
one year); and

iii) Supplier Obligation Levy payable (reported  
as a current liability i.e. payable within one year).

Supplier Obligation levy balances are not treated 
as financial assets or liabilities as they arise from 
statutory provisions, rather than contractual. 
Each of the separately reported elements is 
described in more detail below.

2.19.1 Supplier Obligation Levy
The Supplier Obligation Levy reported as a non-
current asset is recognised in the statement of 
financial position to reflect the company’s right to 
benefit from the obligations of electricity suppliers 
under the Regulations to make payments to 
the company in order for the company to then 
settle the related CFDs. The other side of this 
asset entry is recognised as other income and 
is classified as Supplier Obligation Levy in the 
statement of comprehensive income. This 
receivable is measured as equal and opposite 
to the CFD fair value movement recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a non-
current liability under the heading ‘Contracts for 
Difference’ (the corresponding entry to the CFD 
fair value movement also being to the statement 
of comprehensive income). This results in the 
company’s statement of comprehensive income 
remaining neutral to the impact of the CFD 
valuation movements and remaining consistent 
with the company’s role as defined by  
the Regulations. 



Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18  73

2.19.2 Supplier Obligation Levy receivable
The Supplier Obligation Levy receivable reported 
as a current asset is recognised in the statement 
of financial position to reflect the actual amount 
of Interim Levy Rate and Total Reserve Amount 
payments owed by suppliers at the reporting 
date, in respect of the levies for those quarterly 
obligation periods which have been set up to  
the reporting date.  

2.19.3 Supplier Obligation Levy payable
The Supplier Obligation Levy payable reported as 
a current liability is recognised in the statement 
of financial position to reflect the actual amounts 
owed to suppliers in respect of over-collection of 
the Interim Levy Rate and Total Reserve Amount 
at the reporting date. This situation occurs 
where the estimated payments to be made by 
suppliers under the Regulations in respect of the 
Interim Levy Rate and Total Reserve Amount are 
reconciled to the actual payments which should 
have been made by suppliers and a difference 
arises. The over-collection will be returned to 
suppliers through issuing a credit note after the 
reporting date which will then be used to offset 
any subsequent collection of the Total Reserve 
Amount for future quarterly obligation periods. 
To the extent that the subsequent quarterly 
payments owed by suppliers are below the level 
of the credit note issued then a cash refund will 
be made by the company.

2.19.4 Generators payments payable 
The Generators payments payable is the  
amount owed to the electricity generators in 
response to the supply of low carbon electricity 
in accordance with CFDs and is classified  
under current liability in the statement of  
financial position. 

3. Financial risk management

3.1  Financial risk management and financial 
risk factors

CFDs potentially expose the company to a 
variety of financial risks: market risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. However, in practice 

the financial risk is minimal given the Supplier 
Obligation Levy funding arrangements with 
licensed suppliers (described above and set  
out in more detail below).

3.1.1 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future 
cash flows of the CFDs will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises 
three types of risk: 

i. price risk;

ii. inflation risk; and

iii. interest rate risk.

i. Price risk
Amounts payable under CFDs are exposed 
to price risk through the fluctuation in future 
wholesale electricity prices, specifically, on 
how such prices will differ in the future from the 
prices used to fair value the liability. However, 
the company is not financially exposed to this 
risk because the liability is funded through a levy 
on suppliers.

ii. Inflation risk
Amounts payable under CFDs are affected by 
the indexation of strike prices to reflect actual 
inflation. As such, inflation risk arises from the 
impact of change in indexation on the Interim 
Levy Rate determined by the Supplier Obligation 
Forecasting Model (SOFM) and in the actual 
contracts. Inflation rates may not continue at the 
relatively low levels experienced in recent years. 
However, the company is not financially exposed 
to this risk because the liability is funded through 
a levy on suppliers.

iii. Interest rate risk
The company does not have any borrowings 
that are subject to interest rate risk.

3.1.2 Maturity profiles  
Maturities of finance liabilities are provided in  
the following table:

CFDs exc. HPC <1 year  
£’000

2-5 years  
 £’000

>5 years  
£’000

Total  
£’000

As at 31 March 2017 295,283 3,612,883 8,425,703 12,333,869 

As at 31 March 2018 580,936 4,596,275 10,714,885 15,892,096

These amounts are based on the carrying values of CFD financial liabilities. Note 26 provides disclosures relating to the fair 
value of the CFDs excluding the Hinkley Point C CFD.
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4.  Critical accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the company’s financial 
statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations or 
future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The results form the 
basis of making judgements about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or, in the period 
of the revision and future periods, if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Estimates 
The key assumptions concerning the future 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below. 
The company based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when the 
financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising that 
are beyond the control of the company. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when 
they occur. 

4.1.1 Estimating useful lives and residual 
values of property, plant, and equipment  
and intangible assets
At each reporting date, the useful lives 
and residual values of property, plant, and 
equipment and intangible assets are reviewed. 
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and 
residual value estimates requires the company 
to consider a number of factors such as the 
physical condition of the asset, technological 
advancement, expected period of use of the 
asset by the company, and expected disposal 
proceeds (if any) from the future sale of the 
asset. An incorrect estimate of the useful life 
or residual value will affect the depreciation/
amortisation expense recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income and the 
asset’s carrying amount.

4.1.2 Provisions 
Judgement and estimation techniques are 
employed in the calculation of the best estimate 
of the amount required to settle obligations, 
including determining how likely it is that 
expenditure will be required by the company. 
This can be very complex, especially when there 
is a wide range of possible outcomes. 

As of 31 March 2018, the company has only 
one provision, which is for dilapidation. The 
dilapidation provision relates to a future liability 
for dilapidation costs for its leased premises 
at Fleetbank House. The company is required, 
at the expiry of the lease term, to return the 
premises to their previous state and condition, 
including removing any furniture and fittings 
installed by the company. In accordance 
with IAS 37 an undiscounted provision has 
been created for these future costs based 
on a dilapidation liability report issued by an 
independent surveyor. However, due to the 
immaterial impact of discounting over the lease 
period discounting has not been applied.

4.1.3 Valuation of CFD Liabilities 
The fair value is calculated using the income 
approach and represents the company’s best 
estimate of the payments which the company 
will be committed to make, if and when the 
generators supply low carbon electricity in 
accordance with their contractual terms. 
Significant inputs, especially the wholesale 
electricity prices used in the valuation technique 
are detailed in note 26.

4.2 Significant judgement
4.2.1 Deferral of differences between fair 
value and transaction price for CFDs 
The fair value of the CFDs, disclosed in note 
26, is derived at initial recognition based on the 
valuation technique that uses data other than 
from observable sources. In accordance with 
IAS 39 paragraph AG 76, the measurement 
of CFDs on the statement of financial position 
therefore includes an adjustment to defer 
the difference between the fair value at initial 
recognition and the transaction price of nil.  

Management believes it is reasonable to 
amortise the difference between the fair value 
at initial recognition and the transaction price 
over the same period as the actual contract 
life reflects the obligation under the contract 
to make payments and the right to receive 
monies from suppliers to make those payments. 
Financial instrument standards require the 
“deferred difference” to be recognised only to 
the extent that it arises from a change in factor 
(including time) that market participants would 
take into account.
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4.2.2 Fair value measurement of Hinkley 
Point C CFD
As explained in Strategic report on page 28 and 
note 28 (and in accordance with the conclusion 
reached for the 2016/17 year) management is of 
the view that a reasonable estimate of the value 
of the Hinkley Point C CFD cannot be measured 
with reliability and on that basis the company 
has not recognised the Hinkley Point C CFD in 
the accounts.  

4.2.3 Supplier Obligation Levy
The accounting treatment of CFDs as a financial 
liability would result in a charge to the statement 
of comprehensive income in subsequent periods 
due to the amortisation of the day one deferred 
difference, between the fair value of the liability 
and the transaction price, and the movement in 
fair value of CFDs. 

In substance the Supplier Obligation Levy 
and the CFD obligation to make payments 
to generators are linked transactions. The 
company’s reason for existence is to facilitate 
the settlement of CFDs to generate low carbon 
electricity with funding raised via the Supplier 
Obligation Levy.  

The company’s right to receive payments 
is laid out in the statutory obligations on 
licensed electricity suppliers as outlined in 
the Regulations. The company can only make 
payments related to the CFDs once it has 
received sufficient funding through the Supplier 
Obligation Levy. Therefore, any payments related 
to the CFDs are covered through the Supplier 
Obligation Levy.

However, there is a timing difference between 
the point at which changes in the fair value of 
the CFDs liability are recognised in the financial 
statements, and the point at which the related 
obligations give rise to mature levy obligations 
under the Regulations.  

The timing difference is analogous to the 
timing differences discussed in IAS 12 (Income 
Taxes). It is highly probable that the company 
will receive future funding to pay for the 
CFDs through the Supplier Obligation Levy, 
and management believe it is appropriate to 
recognise an asset for the timing difference. 
Therefore a Supplier Obligation Levy non-
current asset is recognised in the statement of 
financial position to match the timing difference 

with a corresponding entry in the statement of 
comprehensive income. For the purposes of fair 
presentation, this recognition is capped at the 
amount at which the CFDs are measured on the 
statement of financial position. This would result 
in the company’s statement of comprehensive 
income remaining neutral to the impact of 
the CFD valuation movements and remain 
consistent with the company’s role as defined by 
the Regulations.

A different treatment is taken by BEIS in its 
accounts because it uses the adaptations in 
the Financial Reporting Manual which prevent 
the recognition of any assets related to taxes 
payable to the Consolidated Fund, generally 
taken to extend to taxes and levies more 
generally. The company applies IFRS in full so as 
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 so the 
directors have not applied this adaptation.

5.  New standards, amendments and 
interpretations not yet adopted

The standards and interpretations that are 
issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
issuance of the company’s financial statements 
are disclosed below. The company intends to 
adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective. The company has not sought 
early adoption of any standards or amendments. 
The company has reviewed the impact of these 
standards. None of these standards, except IFRS 
16: Leases, are expected to have a significant 
effect on the financial statements of the company. 
Once IFRS 16 is adopted, the operating lease for 
the office rental will be capitalised. 

IFRS 9: Financial instruments
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses the 
classification, measurement and recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities.  
The complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in 
July 2014. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that 
relates to the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments. The standard is effective 
for accounting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018.

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts  
with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes 
a new five-step model that will apply to revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. Under 
IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount 
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that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. 
The standard is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The 
company has assessed and judged that IFRS 
15 does not apply to income from electricity 
suppliers. LCCC will continue to apply its 
accounting policy which follows the IFRS 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting.

IFRS 16: Leases
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and 
establishes principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases.

The standard provides a single lessee 
accounting model, requiring lessees to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 
unless the lease term is 12 months or less, 
or the underlying asset has a low value. The 
standard is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The impact on LCCC would be to the premises 
lease of the office. The current premises lease 
expires on 31 March 2019, a similar renewal 
could result in recognising a five-year lease of 
approximately £1.8m.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations 
that are not yet effective that would be expected 
to have a material impact on the company.

 

6. Other income

The following is an analysis of the company’s 
other income from continuing operations:

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Operational costs levy income 15,877 15,530

Less: expected refund to suppliers (2,661) (3,802)

Net operational costs levy income 13,216   11,728

Recharges to related parties 1,628   1,707

Amortisation of deferred government 
grant liability 

155 155

Other income 12 –

Settlement of a dispute – 1,676

Other income 15,011 15,266

The remuneration of directors and the disclosure 
of the highest paid director are included in the  
Remuneration Report on pages 52 to 54. 

The average number of staff employed by  
the company (including executive directors):

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries (including secondees) 4,602   4,024

Agency and contracted staff costs 273 691

Social security costs 519 443

Contributions to defined contribution 
plans

258 178

Staff costs 5,652   5,336

2018 2017

Number Number

Permanent staff 54 48

BEIS’s secondees – 2

Agency and Contracted staff 5 5

Total 59 55

Recharges to related parties represents £1.6m 
(2016/17: £1.7m) charged to ESC. Other income 
represents income from a generator for work 
carried on their behalf. 

7. Staff costs
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8. Other operating costs

Miscellaneous costs mainly include training 
costs, stationery & printing, repairs & 
maintenance and bank charges.

Premises costs for the year include operating 
lease rental expenses of £0.191m 
(2016/17: £0. 191m).

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Operational settlement costs 3,057   3,142

Legal, professional and consultancy 3,510 4,251

IT support, telephony and maintenance 789 859

Miscellaneous costs 406 263

Premises costs 366 381

Insurance 229 267

Auditor’s remuneration 92 94

Other operating costs 8,449   9,257

9. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

 
IT equipment

Furniture  
and Fittings

 
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 31 March 2016 425 231 67 723

Additions during the year  33 58  12 103

Disposals during the year – – (1) (1)

As at 31 March 2017 458 289 78 825

Additions during the year – 27 – 27 

Disposals during the year (6) – – (6)

As at 31 March 2018 452 316 78 846

Depreciation

As at 31 March 2016 170 93 10 273

Charge for the year 79 82 7 168

Disposals during the year – – – –

As at 31 March 2017 249 175 17 441 

Charge for the year 90 80 8 178

Disposals during the year – – – –

As at 31 March 2018 339 255 25 619

Net book value as at 31 March 2017 209 114 61 384 

Net book value as at 31 March 2018 113 61 53 227



78 Low Carbon Contracts Company Ltd

Notes to the accounts

Carrying value of the settlement system includes 
an asset created against a deferred government 
grant liability and finance lease. The settlement 
system is recognised as a finance lease as 
economic rights rest with the company. The 
settlement system went live in February 2016.

No impairment is charged in the current year. 
The lease term is 5 years which is the period 
over which the asset is being depreciated as 
management has assessed this to be the useful 
life of the asset.

11. Operational costs levy receivable

10. Intangible assets
Settlement System Other IT Software Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

As at 31 March 2016 1,425 1,201 2,626

Additions during the year 452 40 492

As at 31 March 2017 1,877 1,241 3,118

Additions during the year – – – 

As at 31 March 2018 1,877 1,241 3,118 

Amortisation

As at 31 March 2016 44 241 285

Charge for the year 291 214 505

As at 31 March 2017 335 455 790 

Charge for the year 375 357 732

As at 31 March 2018 710 812 1,522

Net book value as at 31 March 2017 1,542 786 2,328 

Net book value as at 31 March 2018 1,167 429 1,596

The Supplier Obligation Levy is made up of two 
components: the Interim Levy Rate and the 
Total Reserve Amount. The receivable reflects 
the amounts owed by suppliers relating to each 
of these components to fund the necessary 
payments to generators under the CFDs.

13. Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Operational costs levy receivable 488 350

Operational costs levy accrued 1,265 1,044

Total operational costs levy receivable 1,753  1,394

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Interim Levy Rate accruals  22,036 7,262

Interim Levy Rate receivable 14,886   7,603

Total Reserve Amount receivable – 26,188

Supplier obligation accruals – 1,500

Total Supplier Obligation 
Levy receivable

36,922 42,553

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Due from related parties – –

Staff receivables 22 22

Prepayments 199 263

Total trade and other receivables 221 285

12.  Supplier Obligation  
Levy receivable

The operational costs levy receivable reflects 
the amounts owed by suppliers to fund the 
operational costs of the company. 
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For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise the cash 
at bank and suppliers’ credit cover as stated 
above. Cash at bank includes cash of £63.939m 
(2016/17: £31,047m) received from suppliers in 
respect of the Supplier Obligation Levy which can 
only be used to pay generators. Suppliers credit 
cover is a restricted cash balance and relates to 
credit cover provided by the electricity suppliers.   

15. Operational costs levy payable

To the extent that the company spends less 
than the annual budget set for operational costs, 
as approved through public consultation and 
Parliament, the difference between the amount 
collected under the operational costs levy and 
the actual expenditure of the company for the 
year, is refunded to suppliers. The refund is made 
as soon as practicable in the following financial 
year and as a result there is an amount owed to 
suppliers at the year end which is reflected as a 
liability in the statement of financial position.

16.  Supplier Obligation Levy and 
Generators payments payable

The Supplier Obligation Levy is made up of two 
components: the Interim Levy Rate and the 
Total Reserve Amount. The payable reflects the 
amounts owed to suppliers for each component 
as a result of over collection of these amounts 
compared to the actual payments to be made to 
generators under the CFDs.

The generators payments payable reflects the 
amount owed to the electricity generators in 
response to the supply of low carbon electricity 
in accordance with the CFDs.

14. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Cash at bank 66,986 35,943

Suppliers’ credit cover 11,062 4,323

Total cash and cash equivalents 78,048 40,266

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Operational costs levy payable 2,788    3,835

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Interim Levy Rate payable 17,204    14,904

Total Reserve Amount payable 30,679 34,440

Generators payment payable 33,304 14,228

Generators payment accrual 19,594 8,427

Total Supplier Obligation Levy and 
Generators payment payable

100,781 71,999

The carrying value of trade and other payables 
approximates to their fair value. The deferred 
government grant liability which relates to the 
settlement system asset received from BEIS 
is a non-cash transaction for the purposes of 
disclosure in the statement of cash flows. There 
will be no discounting of grant in aid capital loan 
and the value stated last year has been added 
back to the government grant liability. The 
accrual for lease incentives relates to the rent 
free period received on the leasehold premises 
at Fleetbank House which is spread evenly over 
the term of the lease.

18. Borrowings

The grant in aid capital loan is interest free 
and repayable to BEIS from funding received 
through the operational costs levy collected from 
suppliers. The actual loan outstanding as of 31 
March 2018 was £0.868m (2016/17: 

£1.141m) with the difference of nil (2016/17: 
£0.012m) reflecting the impact of discounting 
(see note 17). The timing of the repayment of the 
loan is in line with the depreciation charged on 
the assets funded via the loan.

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Current: 

Supplier collateral payable 11,060   4,321

Accruals 1,618 1,850

Trade payables 282  4

Other taxation and social security 131 135

Accruals for lease incentives 13 13

Amounts owed to ESC – 766

Capital creditors – 42

13,104   7,131

Non-current:

Deferred government grant liability  
(see note 22)

440 595

Discounting of grant in aid capital loan – 12

Accruals for lease incentives – 13

440 620

Total trade and other payables 13,544  7,751

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Current:

Grant in aid capital loan 402 402

Non-current:

Grant in aid capital loan 466 727

Total borrowings 868 1,129

17. Trade and other payables
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The finance lease obligation is for the part of the 
settlement system assets that was funded by 
BEIS through EMRS, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of ELEXON Limited.

20. Provisions 

The other provision relating to the generator 
related costs was recovered through the 
Supplier Obligation Levy.

Under IAS 16.16 the value of a fixed asset 
should include the initial estimate of the costs of 
dismantling and removing items and restoring 
the site to its original state. As a result the 
company is required to set up a provision for 
the estimated costs of this reinstatement work. 
Refer to note 4.1.2 for further detail on above 
mentioned provision.

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Less than 1 year 220 220

Between 1 and 5 years 499 709

As at 31 March 719 929

£’000

As at 31 March 2016 622

Finance lease acquired during the year 433

Finance lease obligations paid (126)

As at 31 March 2017 929

Finance lease acquired during the year  

Finance lease obligations paid (210) 

As at 31 March 2018 719 

Dilapidation Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2016 67 – 67

Movement in provision – 1,500 1,500

As at 31 March 2017 67 1,500 1,567

Movement in provision – (1,500) (1,500)

As at 31 March 2018 67 – 67

Current – – –

Non-current 67 – 67

Total provisions 67 – 67

19. Finance lease obligations
Number

Authorised shares

Ordinary share capital £1 each 1

£

Ordinary share capital issued  
and fully paid:

As at 31 March 2016 1

Share capital issued during the year –

As at 31 March 2017 1

Share capital issued during the year –

As at 31 March 2018 1

23.  Commitments under  
operating leases 

Future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are outlined in  
the table below: 

£’000

As at 31 March 2016 750

Amortisation  (155)

As at 31 March 2017 595

Amortisation (155)

As at 31 March 2018 440

2018 2017

£’000 £’000

Commitments under operating leases:

Buildings   

Within one year 412 390

After one year but not more than  
five years

– 405

Total commitments under operating 
leases

412 795 

21. Share capital

22.  Deferred government  
grant liability
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Services to ESC comprise shared costs of 
premises, staff and directors’ payroll costs, 
IT infrastructure and depreciation which are 
incurred in the first instance by the company  
but are then recharged at an agreed percentage 
to ESC based on an estimated usage of  
those services. 

The services supplied to BEIS relate primarily 
to the charges for the secondment of staff. 
The services from BEIS include staff costs 
associated with secondments, settlement 
system additions during the year and charges 

for the rental of premises and associated 
service costs of the 6th Floor, Fleetbank House. 
Amounts owed to BEIS include the grant in 
aid capital loan, obligations under the finance 
lease relating to the settlement system asset 
and rental of premises and associated services 
received during the year. 

24.1 Compensation of key management 
personnel of the company
Key management personnel include executive 
directors and their compensation is disclosed in 
the Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 54. 

Services to related 
parties

Services from 
related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Entities with significant influence:

2017

BEIS – 645 – 2,263

ESC 1,707 – – 766

2018

BEIS – 366 – 1,587

ESC 1,628 – – –

25. Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets

2018 2017

Note £’000 £’000

Other receivables 13 22 22

Cash and cash equivalents 14 78,048 40,266

Total financial assets 78,070 40,288

Total current 78,070 40,288

Total non-current –  –

Total financial assets 78,070 40,288

Financial liabilities

2018 2017

Note £’000 £’000

Contracts for Difference 26 15,892,096 12,333,869

Trade and other payables 17 12,960 6,983

Borrowings 18 868 1,129

Finance lease obligations 19 719 929

Total financial liabilities  15,906,643  12,342,910

Total current 13,582 7,605

Total non-current 15,893,061 12,335,305

Total financial liabilities 15,906,643 12,342,910

24. Related party transactions 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related 
parties for the relevant financial period:
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26. CFDs excluding Hinkley Point C  

Notes 26 and 27 only relate to CFDs other than 
Hinkley Point C, which is disclosed in note 28. As 
at 31 March 2018 the company was counterparty 
to 57 contracts, including Hinkley Point C and 16 
CFD contracts signed by the company in October 
2017 after Allocation Round 2.  

Under the legislation there is an obligation 
placed on licensed electricity suppliers to fund 
the CFD liabilities as they crystallise through 
the Supplier Obligation Levy. The future levy 
amounts which will be received from the 
licensed suppliers will be accounted for within 
the company and will be triggered by the 
generation and supply of low carbon electricity.

 

26.1 Measurement differences relating  
to day one recognition
The transaction price for CFDs differs from the 
fair value at initial recognition measured using a 
valuation model, mainly because the transaction 
price is not established in an active market. If 
there are significant unobservable inputs used 
in the valuation technique (level 3), the financial 
instrument is recognised at the transaction price 
and any difference between the transaction 
price and fair value at initial recognition 
measured using a valuation model is deferred. 

The following table represents the difference 
between the CFD liability at initial recognition 
and at the reporting date:

During the year the net movement of £4,103m (2016/17: £1,064m) in the fair value of CFDs is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.   

CFDs exc. HPC

£’000

CFD liability as at 31 March 2016 recognised on the statement of financial position 11,269,814

CFD liability transferred from BEIS during the year 1,111,253

CFD reinstated during the year 575,187

Remeasurement of the CFD liability (570,802)

Payments to the CFD generators (92,148)

Deferred difference recognised during the year 40,565

CFD liability as at 31 March 2017 recognised on the statement of financial position 12,333,869

Remeasurement of the CFD liability 3,720,976

Payments to the CFD generators (544,293)

Deferred difference recognised during the year 381,544

CFD liability as at 31 March 2018 recognised on the statement of financial position 15,892,096
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26.3 Fair value measurement of CFDs 
The fair value of CFDs represents the company’s 
best estimate of the payments which the 
company will be committed to make, if and 
when the generators supply low carbon 
electricity in accordance with their contractual 
terms. They are based upon the estimates 
of future electricity prices using the Dynamic 
Dispatch Model (DDM) owned by BEIS. 

Should no low carbon electricity be supplied in 
accordance with the contractual terms, then the 
company is not under any obligation to make 
these payments.

CFDs exc. HPC

£’000

Deferred measurement differences as at 31 March 2016 16,536,203

Measurement differences deferred relating to a reinstated CFD 1,084,094

Measurement differences deferred on contract transferred from BEIS 1,499,017

Deferred measurement differences recognised during the year (40,565)

Deferred measurement differences as at 31 March 2017 19,078,749

Measurement differences deferred during the year 4,611,678

Deferred measurement differences recognised during the year (381,544)

Deferred measurement differences as at 31 March 2018 23,308,883

26.2 Movement in deferred measurement differences

26.3.1 Fair value of CFDs (financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit and loss)

The following table provides an analysis of 
financial instruments which are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value and 
grouped into input levels 1 to 3 within the fair 
value hierarchy based on the degree to which 
the fair value is observable:

26.3.2 Reconciliation of CFDs 
The following table shows the impact on the fair 
value of CFDs, classified under level 3, by using 
the assumption described below:

CFDs exc. HPC

£’000

As at 31 March 2016 27,806,017

CFD reinstated during the year 1,659,281

Transferred from BEIS 2,610,270

Change in fair value during the year (570,802)

Payments to the CFD generators (92,148)

As at 31 March 2017 31,412,618

Additions during the year 4,611,678

Change in fair value during the year 3,720,976

Payments to the CFD generators (544,293)

As at 31 March 2018 39,200,979

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2017 – – 31,412,618 31,412,618

As at 31 March 2018 – – 39,200,979 39,200,979
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The fair value of the unquoted contracts has 
been estimated using a discounted cash flow 
model. This method involved the projection 
of a series of cash flows and application of a 
discount rate to establish the present value of 
the expenses associated with the liability. The 
valuation requires management to make certain 
assumptions about the model inputs, including 
cash flows, the discount rate, credit risk and 
volatility. Further information relating to the 
assumptions is included below under key inputs 
and underlying assumptions. 

The probabilities of the various estimates within 
the range can be reasonably assessed and are 
used in management’s estimate of fair value for 
these unquoted contracts.

Annual cash flow is estimated as reference price 
less strike price multiplied by estimated capacity 
delivered. The series of periodic net operating 
expense is then discounted using the HM 
Treasury discount rate of 0.7% (2016/17: 0.7%). 

26.4 Key inputs and underlying assumptions 
for CFDs other than Hinkley Point C 
For the key inputs into the model, the underlying 
assumptions are set out below.

26.4.1 Transmission Loss Multiplier (TLM)
TLM reflects the fact that electricity is lost as it 
passes through the transmission system from 
generators to suppliers. If the TLM is incorrect, 
this will have implications for the volume of 
electricity subject to CFD payments. Any change 
in TLM will be corrected through adjustments 
in strike prices although the change in TLM is 
expected to be immaterial.

26.4.2 Start date
Generators nominate a Target Commissioning 
Date (TCD) in their binding application form 
for a CFD, and this date is specified in their 
CFD, following contract award. However, the 
generator is free to commission at any time 
within their Target Commissioning Window 
(TCW), a period of one year from the start 
of the TCW for most technologies, with no 
penalty, or after the end of the TCW and up to 
their “Longstop Date” (one to two years after 
the end of the TCW depending on technology) 
with a penalty in the form of reduction of 
contract length for each day they are late in 
commissioning after the end of the TCW. The 
contract can be terminated if the generator has 
not commissioned 95% (or 85% for Investment 
Contracts and offshore wind) of their revised 
installed capacity estimate by the Longstop 
Date. Any change to the start date will change 
the timing of future cash flows and impact on 
the discounted fair value. The valuation uses the 
latest estimate from generators on the start date.

26.4.3 Strike price
The strike price is an agreed price which 
determines the payments made to the generator 
under the contract with reference to its low 
carbon output and the market reference price.

The relevant strike price is specified in each CFD 
and is not intended to change for the duration 
of the project, other than through indexation 
to CPI and certain network charges, or in the 
event of certain qualifying changes in law. The 
strike price is updated to reflect the CPI rate for 
January 2018, in line with the requirements of 
the CFD contract.

26.4.4 Future forecast wholesale  
electricity prices
Forecast wholesale electricity prices are derived 
from the Dynamic Dispatch Model (DDM) which 
has been developed by BEIS to facilitate/inform 
policy decisions by modelling investor behaviour 
in response to fuel and carbon prices and policy 
environment. The DDM estimates the wholesale 
price by:

•  using the Short Run Marginal Cost (SRMC)  
for each plant;

•  daily demand for electricity taken into  
account wind profiles, interconnector flows, 
pumped storage, auto-generation and wind 
generation; and

•  using a mark-up on the price derived  
from historic data and the difference  
between marginal price and cost affected  
by reduced capacity. 

Economic, climate, policy, generation and 
demand assumptions are external inputs to the 
model including demand load curves for both 
business and non-business days and seasonal 
impacts. Specific assumptions can also be 
modelled for domestic and non-domestic 
sectors and smart meter usage. 

The forecast trajectory of electricity prices is 
uncertain. In the valuation, management has 
used the central case. BEIS also publishes low 
and high cases; these have been included in the 
sensitivity analysis.

In the valuation, the wholesale price has been 
reduced to reflect the price the wind generator 
is likely to receive. On windy days, the price that 
wind generators receive is likely to be reduced.  
The effect of reduced prices for wind generation 
adds approximately £3bn to the valuation.

26.4.5 Installed Capacity
The figure for the maximum installed capacity 
was provided by the generator in its application 
for a CFD and specified in its CFD contract 
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following allocation. The installed capacity 
cannot be increased after contract signature, 
but can be reduced by the generator by no 
more than 25% with no penalty between 
contract signature and the completion of the 
first contractual milestone by its contractual 
deadline (i.e. the Milestone Requirement which 
must be completed 12 months after contract 
award). Thereafter the installed capacity figure 
can only be reduced by the generator for 
a permitted contractual construction event 
(which is a narrowly defined concept) or by the 
difference by which the relevant project has an 
installed capacity of 95% (or 85% in the case of 
Investment Contracts and offshore wind) of its 
current contractual installed capacity figure and 
100%. The actual output of the generator will 
depend on the load factor. 

26.4.6 Load Factor 
Load Factor is defined as the actual power 
output of a project as a proportion of its rated 
installed capacity. It is a percentage figure which 
is used to transform installed capacity into 
actual power output (generation). Load factor 
assumptions are based on reference factors 
published by BEIS for given technology types; 
however, actual power outputs are sensitive to 
technological and environmental factors which 
may impact actual cash flows.

26.5 Sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the impact on the fair 
value of CFDs, classified under level 3, by using 
reasonably possible alternative assumptions:

Favourable  
changes

£’000

Unfavourable 
changes

£’000

Change in fair value of CFDs exc. HPC if:

Electricity prices decrease by 10% – 2,708,298

Electricity prices increase by 10% 2,708,298 –

10% more load factor – 3,919,173

10% less load factor 3,919,173 –

Estimated Commissioning Date moves backward by one year 333,368 –

Generation starts at the earliest possible date – 155,257

DDM High Case 4,637,196 –

DDM Low Case – 5,585,293

The fair value is highly dependent upon the 
actual capacity generated once the plant is 
built and the electricity prices which will prevail 
at the time of generation. The favourable and 
unfavourable changes show how the impact of 
changes in capacity and prevailing electricity 
prices will affect the fair value of CFDs due to the 
change in the level of cash flows.  

Fair value of CFDs 
(£’000)

Valuation  
technique

Significant 
unobservable input

Range 
Min-Max

Units

2017 31,412,618 DCF Electricity prices 35.2-53.4 £/MWh

2018 39,200,979 DCF Electricity prices 37.13-63.25 £/MWh

26.6 Significant unobservable inputs
The following table discloses the valuation 
techniques and significant unobservable inputs 
for CFDs recognised at fair value and classified 
as level 3 along with the range of values used  
for these significant unobservable inputs.
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£’000

As at 31 March 2016 11,269,814

Levy receivable recognised against remeasurement CFD liability 4,385

Levy receivable recognised against transfer of a CFD from BEIS 1,111,253

Supplier obligation levy received during the year, net of repayable (92,148)

Amortisation charge during the year 40,565

As at 31 March 2017 12,333,869

Levy receivable recognised against remeasurement of CFD liability 3,720,976

Levy receivable recognised against transfer of a CFD from BEIS –

Supplier obligation levy received during the year, net of repayable (544,293)

Amortisation charge during the year 381,544

As at 31 March 2018  15,892,096  

Notes to the accounts

A non-current Supplier Obligation Levy asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position 
to match the timing difference between the point 
at which changes in the fair value of the CFDs 
liability are recognised in the financial statements 
and the point at which the related obligations 
give rise to mature levy obligations under the 
Regulations. A corresponding entry is made in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 

There is no Supplier Obligation Levy asset 
for the Hinkley Point C CFD as no matching 
Hinkley Point C CFD liability is recognised in 
the accounts. Non recognition of the Hinkley 
Point C CFD is discussed in note 28. The 
Supplier Obligation Levy asset recognised in the 
statement of financial position only relates to the 
CFDs other than Hinkley Point C.    

28. Hinkley Point C CFD

The company entered into the Hinkley Point 
C CFD on 29 September 2016. This project 
has a maximum lifetime generation cap of 
910,000,000 MWh. The contract will expire at 
the earlier of 35 years after the start date of the 
second reactor or when the total CFD payments 
made have reached the generation cap.  

The valuation of the Hinkley Point C CFD would 
require that an assumption be made of wholesale 
electricity prices in each year out to 2060. The 
company uses BEIS’s DDM to provide estimates 
of future wholesale electricity prices. This model 
currently extends only as far as 2050 and the 
company has therefore assumed flat wholesale 
prices for the ten years 2050-2060. Moreover, 
there is an inherent limitation in accurate 
estimation beyond 2040 because there is a 
paucity of independent third party information 
beyond this point from which to validate the 

27. Supplier Obligation Levy 

company’s assumptions. The unavoidable 
uncertainty over possible scenarios so far into 
the future extend to a variety of factors including 
electricity demand, fossil fuel prices, generation 
mix, carbon prices and technology.

Under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) the Conceptual Framework 
sets out the concepts which underlie the 
preparation and presentation of financial 
statements. The Conceptual Framework deals 
with, amongst other things, the definition, 
recognition and measurement of the elements 
from which financial statements are constructed. 
Paragraph 4.38 of the Conceptual Framework 
states that an element should be recognised in 
the accounts if:

a)  it is probable that any future economic benefit 
associated with the item will flow to or from 
the entity; and

b)  the item has a cost or value that can be 
measured with reliability [defined as: using 
information that is complete, neutral and free 
from error].

In comparison to other CFDs the company 
considers the CFD for Hinkley Point C to be 
unique. The European Pressurised Reactor 
is a much more complex asset than the wind 
turbines or biomass generators associated with 
the company’s other CFDs. It has very high 
levels of safety, reinforcement and containment 
incorporated into the design, which make it 
more expensive and complex to build and result 
in a significant lead time before generation 
commences (planned for 2025). Until these 
challenges are overcome and the asset is built 
and operational, no payments will be made by 
the company under the CFD.  
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The Hinkley Point C CFD duration is also more 
than double (35 years) the length of other CFDs 
(15 years) so far entered into by the company. 
This makes it considerably more challenging 
to provide a single point fair value estimate, 
as required for accounting purposes, as that 
requires estimation of future wholesale electricity 
prices in every year out to 2060. This means 
that there are considerable but unavoidable 
uncertainties in creating a fair value estimate 
for the Hinkley Point C CFD because of the 
unusually long time period involved. 

Uncertainty increases with time and so the 
choice of discount rate plays a significant part in 
determining how much uncertainty is weighted 
into a present value calculation; a higher 
discount rate places less weight on increasingly 
more uncertain later years of a present value 
calculation. For example, in conducting the 
economic appraisal for the Hinkley Point C 
project BEIS used the social discount rate of 
3.5% per year, as required by the HM Treasury 
Green Book. However, for valuing financial 
instruments like CFDs the company is obliged 
to use the financial instrument discount rate of 
0.7%, as required by the HM Treasury Financial 
Reporting Manual. Therefore, compared to an 
economic appraisal, a present value estimate 
for a financial instrument includes progressively 
more weight from the less certain later years 
of the appraisal period. For comparison, using 
the social discount rate leads to a valuation of 
£19.1bn compared to £36.6bn using the financial 
instrument discount rate of 0.7%.

This is particularly relevant to the Hinkley Point 
C CFD fair value because external forecasts 
for wholesale electricity prices are not currently 
readily available beyond 2040. It has not been 
possible for the company to satisfactorily verify 
whether a single point fair value estimate for 
the Hinkley Point C CFD is complete, neutral 
and free from error. (Verifiability is one of the 
qualitative characteristics of useful financial 
information for financial statements as set out in 
the Conceptual Framework.) The company has 
therefore concluded that, for the time being, the 
Hinkley Point C CFD fails to meet the recognition 
criteria (b) as outlined above. Therefore, the 
Hinkley Point C CFD has not been recognised 
as a transaction in these primary statements. 

The company has nonetheless set out 
below its best estimation of the fair value of 
the contract, and the assumptions which 
have been considered in its valuation, in the 
interests of transparency. This follows a ‘Level 
3’ methodology under IFRS 13, which allows 
for use of the company’s own models and 
assumptions.

28.1 Fair value measurement of HPC
Level 3 methodology under IFRS 13 (Fair Value) 
has been considered, which allows for use of 
the entity’s own models and assumptions. 

The following table provides an analysis of the 
fair value of Hinkley Point C, grouped into Levels 
1 to 3 within the fair value hierarchy based on 
the degree to which the fair value is observable:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2016 – – – –

As at 31 March 2017 – – 28,823,835  28,823,835 

As at 31 March 2018 – – 36,585,185 36,585,185

The movement in the fair value measurement of HPC is driven by movements in underlying price 
forecasts for the later years of the contract. Information on other factors which impact on the fair 
value of Hinkley Point C is set out on the next page.
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28.1.1 Start date 
The Target Commissioning Date (TCD: current 
expected start date) for reactor one and 
reactor two of the Hinkley Point C project are 1 
December 2025 and 1 June 2026 respectively. 
The TCW for reactor one is 1 May 2025 to 
30 April 2029. The TCW for reactor two is 1 
November 2025 to 31 October 2029.

Any change to the start date will change the 
timing of future cash flows and impact on the 
discounted fair value.

28.1.2 Equity gain share for Hinkley Point C
The equity gain share mechanism consists of 
two separate components: (i) a mechanism to 
capture gains above specified levels where the 
Hinkley Point C project outperforms relative to 
the original base case assumptions; and (ii) a 
mechanism to capture gains above specified 
levels arising from the sale of equity and 
economic interests (direct or indirect) in the 
Hinkley Point C project.   

In each case, as and when the Internal Rate  
of Return (IRR) thresholds are reached:

•  If the relevant IRR is more than 11.4%, LCCC 
will receive 30% of any gain above this level.

•  If the relevant IRR is more than 13.5%, LCCC 
will receive 60% of any gain above this level.

28.1.3 Installed Capacity
Hinkley Point C does not have an installed 
capacity cap and is only entitled to CFD 
payment support up to a generation cap  
of 910,000,000 MWh.

28.1.4 Strike price
The relevant strike price for Hinkley Point C is 
specified at £92.50/MWh in real 2012 terms 
and is not intended to change for the 35 year 
contract duration, other than through indexation 
to CPI and certain network and balancing 
charges, the event of certain qualifying changes 
in law, or the additional factors discussed below.  

28.1.5 Construction gain share for  
Hinkley Point C
If the construction costs of Hinkley Point C come 
in under budget, the strike price will be adjusted 
downwards so that the gain (or saving) is shared 
with the company. The gain share is 50/50 for 
the first billion pounds, with savings in excess 
of this figure being shared 75% to the company 
and 25% to the generator, NNB Generation 
Company (HPC) Limited (NNBG).  

If the outturn cost of construction is less than 
assumed then by reducing the strike price the 
amounts paid out to NNBG under the CFD 
will reduce and hence the benefit of the lower 
construction costs is shared between NNBG 
and ultimately consumers. There is, however, 
no similar upward adjustment if the construction 
cost of Hinkley Point C is over budget.

28.1.6 OPEX reopener for Hinkley Point C
The strike price may be adjusted upwards if the 
operational expenditure costs are more than 
assumed and downwards if they are less. There 
are two operational expenditure reopener dates, 
at 15 years and 25 years after the first reactor 
start date. The rationale behind the reopener 
is that the strike price is based on long-term 
assumptions on operational expenditure costs. 
The reopener provides a way of mitigating  
long-term cost risks for both parties.

28.1.7 Sizewell C strike price adjustment  
for Hinkley Point C
If a CFD in relation to Sizewell C is entered 
into before the reactor one start date then 
the applicable strike price shall be reduced 
with effect from the date of satisfaction of the 
Sizewell C condition by £3/MWh.

28.2 Sensitivity analysis
Using a Level 3 technique to assess the value 
of the Hinkley Point C CFD is permissible 
when there is no observable input against 
which to assess the valuation. The company 
has used BEIS’s internally generated 
models and assumptions consistent with an 
emissions pathway towards the government’s 
decarbonisation commitments to generate the 
wholesale electricity price scenarios used in 
the valuation of the Hinkley Point C CFD. There 
is unavoidable uncertainty inherent in all such 
modelling and as such the results should be 
interpreted as a range of plausible scenarios 
rather than a single point value. However, IFRS13 
requires that a single amount be declared for 
fair value and so, to satisfy this condition, the 
company has adopted its central scenario when 
valuing the Hinkley Point C CFD.

To provide transparency for the reader it is 
important to highlight the uncertainty inherent 
in material values over a long period of time, 
such is the nature of this CFD. The predicted 
price series from the DDM between 2025 and 
2050 (flat-lined from 2050 to 2060) has a higher 
degree of certainty in the early years (2025-
2040) and a lower degree of certainty in later 
years (2040-2060). This is due to the lack of 
available market data against which to judge the 
output. In the valuation, management has used 
the DDM central case. BEIS also publishes low 
and high cases. These have been included in 
the sensitivity analysis.
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Favourable  
changes

Unfavourable 
changes

£’000 £’000

Change in fair value of HPC if:

Electricity prices decrease by 10% – 4,154,034

Electricity prices increase by 10% 4,154,034 –

At generation cap – 115,741

10% less load factor 3,658,519 –

Estimated Commissioning Date moves backward by one year 294,720 –

Generation starts one year earlier – 311,936

Sizewell C Strike price adjustment for HPC 2,534,105 –

DDM Low Case – 4,780,739

DDM High Case 10,117,145 –

The company has illustrated some empirical 
impact of changes in assumptions on the fair 
value of the Hinkley Point C CFD. These are 
shown in the table below:

29. Events after the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which 
have a material impact on the company’s 
financial results.
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Allocation Round The process by which potential generators apply to National Grid (as “Delivery 
Body”) for a CFD and the successful applicants are selected. Allocation Rounds 
are announced by BEIS, which sets the available CFD “budget” for the relevant 
Allocation Round and specifies the generation technologies which are eligible. The 
first Allocation Round (“Allocation Round 1”) concluded in March 2015. Allocation 
Round 2 concluded in October 2017.

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy.

capacity agreement A capacity agreement is a regulatory and rule based arrangement between 
National Grid, as System Operator, and a successful applicant in a Capacity 
Market auction. The capacity agreement provides a regular retainer payment to 
the successful applicant or “capacity provider”.

Capacity Auction  At a Capacity Auction, applicants who offer the lowest bid can win a capacity 
agreement. A Capacity Auction relates to delivery of capacity approximately four 
years ahead (T-4). For instance, the capacity agreements resulting from the 2014 
T-4 Capacity Auction will require capacity to be delivered in the Delivery Year 
commencing 2018/19. Most recently, the capacity agreements resulting from 
the 2017 T-4 Capacity Auction, held in February 2018, are for the Delivery Year 
commencing in 2021/22. Also, the capacity agreements resulting from the 2017 
T-1 Capacity Auction, held in January 2018, are for the Delivery Year commencing 
in 2019/20. The interim periods are covered by Transitional Arrangements. 

Capacity Market  The Capacity Market has been designed by BEIS (formerly DECC) to offer 
capacity providers who have been awarded capacity agreements via an auction 
with a revenue stream, with the aim of ensuring they are available to contribute to 
security of supply at least cost to consumers. Capacity providers can be new or 
existing generators, electricity storage providers and significant users of electricity 
who provide voluntary demand reductions.

capacity provider A capacity provider is the holder of a capacity agreement with National Grid 
(as System Operator). Capacity providers can be new or existing generators, 
electricity storage providers and significant users of electricity who provide 
voluntary demand side reductions (Demand Side Response). Capacity providers 
provide capacity under either a capacity agreement resulting from a Capacity 
Market auction or from a Transitional Arrangement Auction.

CFD A Contract for Difference (CFD) is a long term agreement between a low carbon 
electricity generator and LCCC. It is designed to provide the generator with a 
stable pre-agreed price (the “strike price”) for the lifetime of the contract. This is 
done by paying the difference where electricity price (the “market reference price”) 
is less than the strike price and receiving the difference when the market reference 
price is higher than the strike price. 

CFD Counterparty or counterparty CFD counterparty is responsible for managing CFDs throughout their contractual 
life. 

CFD project This refers to a project as defined within a CFD agreement in relation to a 
particular facility. Each phase of an offshore wind farm has a separate contract, 
and therefore each phase is referred to as a separate CFD project.

Glossary
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CFD Standard Conditions The relevant standard CFD template contract used in each Allocation Round, also 
referred to as the CFD Standard Terms and Conditions. The Standard Terms and 
Conditions offered under Allocation Rounds 1 and 2 are available at: https://www.
gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-business-energy-and-industrial-
strategy.

DDM The long term forecast of wholesale electricity prices is derived from the Dynamic 
Dispatch Model. The DDM was developed by BEIS to inform policy decisions by 
modelling investor behaviour in response to fuel and carbon prices and policy 
environment (the figures for Great Britain are modelled out to 2050). 

Delivery Year This is a defined term within the Capacity Market rules referring to the obligation 
period of a capacity agreement being 1 October to 31 March of the following year.

Demand Side Response Demand Side Response helps to manage the demand for electricity. It involves 
changing the usage patterns of electricity users (the “demand side”) in response 
to incentives. It is used to match supply with demand when unpredictable 
fluctuations occur and provides a mechanism through which demand can be 
reduced in peak times when system capacity is tight, thereby minimising the 
amount of additional generation capacity being brought onto the grid. Demand 
Side Response is seen as having the potential to help to lower consumer bills, 
electricity system costs and carbon emissions produced by traditional peaking 
plant, such as oil, coal and gas-fired generation.

EMRS EMR Settlement Ltd (EMRS) is a wholly owned subsidiary company of ELEXON 
Ltd.* It is the settlement services provider under a contract with LCCC to manage 
the operation of the settlement system. (*ELEXON website: www.elexon.co.uk/) 

ESC Electricity Settlements Company Ltd.

FiDeR See Investment Contracts.

Interim Levy Rate Under the Supplier Obligation Levy, electricity suppliers make pre-payments 
consisting of a unit cost fixed Interim Levy Rate, charged at a daily £/MWh rate to 
fund the cost of CFD generation payments. The Interim Levy Rate is set by LCCC 
every quarter, one quarter in advance, based on an estimate of the payments that 
will need to be made in respect of CFD generation in that quarter. 

Investment Contracts Investment Contracts are an earlier (April 2014) version of CFDs entered into by 
the Secretary of State in mid 2014 pending the full establishment of the CFD 
scheme and of LCCC. The Secretary of State has transferred these contracts 
to LCCC. The contracts are also known as the Financial Investment Decision 
enabling Renewables (or FiDeR).

Longstop Date The relevant Longstop Date is specified in each CFD and is the last date by which 
the generator’s project must achieve its required minimum generation capacity.  
It is generally 12 months after the end of the Target Commissioning Window for 
onshore technologies and 24 months for offshore wind.   

market reference price The market reference price is a proxy for the average market price relating to the 
electricity sold by the generator. 

Milestone Requirement The CFD requires generators to demonstrate that, by the “Milestone Delivery 
Date” set out in their CFD, they have made a significant financial commitment to 
and are progressing the construction of their project (i.e. new generation plant).  
This date is 12 months from the date of entry into the CFD agreement. Generators 
demonstrate this requirement by providing LCCC with evidence that they either 
have spent 10% of the project cost or have entered into contracts committing to 
expenditure and development of the project.  

Operational Conditions Precedent The Operational Conditions Precedent is a milestone. The process requires 
projects to satisfy (at least 80%) certain commissioning and other tests ahead of 
qualifying for CFD payments.
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Renewables Obligation The Renewables Obligation scheme is one of the main support mechanisms for 
large-scale renewable electricity projects in the UK. The Renewables Obligation 
scheme closed to all new generating capacity on 31 March 2017. 

(for further information see: https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/ro/about-ro) 

Secretary of State means the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, our 
shareholder. 

SOFM The Supplier Obligation Forecast Model (SOFM) is used by LCCC to forecast the 
Supplier Obligation Levy. LCCC sets the amount of the Supplier Obligation Levy 
(i.e. the Interim Levy Rate and the Total Reserve Amount) on a quarterly basis, one 
quarter ahead of the start of each quarter. 

Supplier Obligation Levy Electricity suppliers are required under the Contracts for Difference (Electricity 
Supplier Obligations) Regulations 2014 (as amended) to fund the CFD payments 
made by LCCC to generators. 

Supplier Obligation Regulations The Contracts for Difference (Electricity Supplier Obligations) Regulations 
2014, the Electricity Supplier Obligations (Amendment & Excluded Electricity) 
Regulations 2015 and related amending regulations which govern the rules for the 
management of the Supplier Obligation Levy.

System Operator Organisation licenced by Ofgem to operate the GB electricity system, a role 
currently held by National Grid Plc. The electricity SO’s current responsibilities 
include balancing the electricity system, running electricity capacity auctions, 
coordinating and administering aspects of industry rules and codes and 
supporting efficient transmission network development. 

Target Commissioning Window (TCW) The TCW is the period during which the generator is obliged to fulfil all its 
operational conditions precedent, one of which is a requirement to achieve 80% 
of the project’s required generation capacity. The generator must achieve this 
level before it is entitled to issue a start date notice under the CFD triggering 
its entitlement to CFD payments. If the generator does not fulfil its operational 
conditions precedent by the end of the TCW, it will lose its entitlement to CFD 
support payments day for day for each day of delay in fulfilling this requirement 
beyond the end of the TCW. If the generator does not fulfil this requirement by the 
Longstop Date, and also achieve its minimum final installed capacity requirement 
(95% for onshore technologies and 85% for offshore wind) in accordance with the 
Longstop Date requirements, its CFD may be terminated. 

Total Reserve Amount The amount the company determines is needed for there to be a 19 in 20 
probability of it being able to make all the CFD generation payments required 
during that quarter, having regard to: 

a)  the amount of Interim Levy Rate payments which it expects to collect from 
suppliers during the quarter;

b)  the likelihood of any supplier failing to make payments during the quarter; and

c)  the estimated income to be received by the company from CFD generators in 
the quarter, the estimated amount of electricity to be supplied by suppliers in 
the quarter and the estimated amount the company will need in the quarter to 
pay CFD generators.

Transitional Arrangements Transitional Arrangements were introduced by BEIS to support participation of 
potential Demand Side Response providers and generating units of less than 50MW 
in the Capacity Market during the interim period prior to 2018/19, which is the 
Delivery Year relating to the first Capacity Auction. In other words, the arrangements 
are designed to support the development of this sector in the run up to the 
Capacity Market being in full operation. Transitional Arrangements Auctions are 
year ahead held, with capacity agreements being given to successful applicants.

Transitional Arrangements Auctions Transitional Arrangement Auctions are one year ahead auctions under the 
Transitional Arrangements.
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